An analysis of water, sediment and biological samples from the Clarence River to identify potential causes for poor growth of school prawn during 2009/10

John Harrison





Australian Government

Fisheries Research and Development Corporation

Project No. 2009/087

ISBN 978-0-9808239-1-2

An analysis of water, sediment and biological samples from the Clarence River to identify potential causes for poor growth of school prawn during 2009/10

John Harrison

Published by Professional Fishermen's Association Inc. 51 River Street Maclean NSW 2463 ABN 93801719337 jharrison@pfai.com.au

© Copyright Fisheries Research and Development Corporation and Professional Fishermen's Association Inc February 2011

This work is copyright. Except as permitted under the Copyright Act 1968 (Cth), no part of this publication may be reproduced by any process, electronic or otherwise, without the specific written permission of the copyright owners. Information may not be stored electronically in any form whatsoever without such permission.

DISCLAIMER

The authors do not warrant that the information in this document is free from errors or omissions. The authors do not accept any form of liability, be it contractual, tortious, or otherwise, for the contents of this document or for any consequences arising from its use or any reliance placed upon it. The information, opinions and advice contained in this document may not relate, or be relevant, to a readers particular circumstances. Opinions expressed by the authors are the individual opinions expressed by those persons and are not necessarily those of the publisher, research provider or the FRDC.

ISBN 978-0-9808239-1-2

The Fisheries Research and Development Corporation plans, invests in and manages fisheries research and development throughout Australia. It is a statutory authority within the portfolio of the federal Minister for Agriculture, Fisheries and Forestry, jointly funded by the Australian Government and the fishing industry.

Contents

NON TECHNICAL SUMMARY:							
KEYWORDS:							
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS							
BACKGROUND/ NEED	9						
OBJECTIVES	10						
METHODS	10						
RESULTS/DISCUSSION	12						
BENEFITS AND ADOPTION	13						
PLANNED OUTCOMES	13						
CONCLUSION	14						
ATTACHMENT A: 2010 REPORT	15						
ATTACHMENT B: 2011 REPORT	49						
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	53						
1. INTRODUCTION	55						
1.2 STUDY SCOPE 1.1 STUDY LIMITATION	55 58						
2. STUDY AREA	59						
 2.1 SITE IDENTIFICATION AND LANDUSE 2.2 SPECIFIC SITE CHARACTERISATION 2.3 RAINFALL 2.4 LOCAL SOILS 2.5 SIGNIFICANT AQUATIC HABITAT FEATURES 2.6 WATER QUALITY IMPACTS WITHIN THE CLARENCE RIVER 	59 59 60 61 62 63						
3. SAMPLING METHODOLOGY	64						
 3.1 GENERAL METHODOLOGY 3.2 SAMPLING METHODOLOGY 3.3 ADOPTED WATER QUALITY AND SEDIMENT TRIGGER VALUES 	64 65 65						
4. CURRENT RESULTS	66						
 4.1 ANALYSIS AND MONITORING RESULTS 4.1.1 Surface Water Monitoring Results 4.1.2 Surface Water Analysis Results 4.1.3 Sediment Analyses 4.1.4 Acid Sulfate Analyses 4.2 COMPARATIVE EXAMINATION 4.2.1 Suspended Solids & pH Monitoring Results 4.2.2 Nutrients (N & P) & TSS Sampling Results 4.2.3 Dissolved Inorganic Nitrogen Sampling Results 4.2.4 Total N & DIN Sampling Results 4.2.5 Conductivity Results 	66 66 67 68 69 70 70 70 71 73 74 75						

4.2.6 4.2.7 4.2.8	Dissolved Oxygen & Biochemical Oxygen Demand Results Sediment Sampling Results Dissolved Metals Results	76 76 77
5. DISCU	SSION	81
6. CONCL	USIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	84
6.1 RECO 6.1.2	OMMENDATIONS Amended Scope of Works	84 85
REFERENCES		87
APPENDICES		88
Appendix A - Appendix B - Appendix C - Appendix D -	LABORATORY RESULTS FOR WATER QUALITY ANALYSIS LABORATORY RESULTS FOR ACID SULFATE SOILS ANALYSIS LABORATORY RESULTS FOR SEDIMENTS ANALYSIS DEPTH PROFILING SITE LOG SHEETS	89 91 93 95

2009/087 An analysis of water, sediment and biological samples from the Clarence River to identify potential causes for poor growth of school prawn during 2009/10

PRINCIPAL INVESTIGATOR John Harrison

ADDRESS: 51 – 55 River Street Maclean NSW 2463

OBJECTIVES:

- 1. Identify 18 key sites in the lower Clarence river for sediment and water sample testing
- 2. Engage a certified testing laboratory to sample and test these sites for a range of possible contaminants
- 3. Report on these test and results and determine a course in conjunction with relevant authorities of action if test results determine this
- 4. Engage a certified testing laboratory to test fish and prawn samples supplied by the PFA for a range of possible contaminants

NON TECHNICAL SUMMARY:

OUTCOMES ACHIEVED TO DATE

The project has provided better information to assist in our understanding of the environmental conditions in the lower reaches of the Clarence River. It has enabled rapid testing of both water and sediment within the lower reaches of the Clarence river to assist in either identifying or eliminating possible causes for the seemingly lack of growth in the school prawns in this current season.

The results of the tests at the 18 sites 2009 and 2010 and on the fish and prawn samples (2009 only) all returned within acceptable parameters. These initial studies suggest that there was no evidence of any excessive contaminants that may impede prawn growth rate.

The presence of elevated concentrations of Aluminium and Iron suggest that run off from upstream land is entering the river in concentrations that may possibly be above acceptable limits, but with no collation of available data on the Clarence River, this may be typical background nutrient and aluminium/iron levels. In response, possible areas for improvement in land management practices to reduce the inflow of high levels of nutrients and other contaminants will be discussed with the Clarence Valley Council, State Government agencies, other key stakeholders such as the Cane Growers Association, the Clarence Estuary Partnership project and others. Environmental Analysis Laboratory's (EAL) sampling and testing program for the Clarence River shows that, during the summer periods (December 2009 and December 2010), the water quality is within acceptable limits for the region.

Monitoring and analysis effort at the eighteen sites consisted of physicochemical depth profiling (pH, EC, TDS, Turbidity, Salinity and DO), sediment and water sample collection for assessment of specific physicochemical and chemical analyses. Analysis and field monitoring results were compared with appropriate trigger levels.

The sampling and analysis effort is limited to one sampling event per annum at each of the eighteen (18) selected sites. Tidal variations and subsequent changes in water column depth are not accounted for in the sampling and monitoring effort.

Heavy metals or pesticides (in waters, sediment or fish/prawn samples) were not in concentrations considered toxic to fish, crustaceans and other estuarine life (as per the current water quality guidelines).

Within areas of the Clarence with low flushing (i.e. Lake Wooloweyah and Maclean Broadwater) and upstream areas, the testing showed that Acid Sulfate Soils were present in the sediment. Although these sediments are below the water table and not exposed to air, the potential exists for these materials to be disturbed and to produce acidic products, metals and to potentially deoxygenate waters in the case of iron monosulfides (black sludge found in Lake Wooloweyah and Maclean Broadwater).

In areas where waters were turbid (i.e. cloudy), levels of nutrient such as nitrogen and phosphorus typically associated with fertilisers and septic run-off were found to be high. Of all heavy metals EAL analysed, Aluminium and Iron where found to be present in high concentrations upstream, likely due to acid sulfate run off from ASS affected lands around Coldstream River and Shark Creek.

Key points noted during the comparison between the previous data and analysis and monitoring results collected for this period:

- Rainfall totals for the year prior to sampling were lower in 2010 than those recorded for same period at each of the 3 monitoring stations in 2009. Whilst, rainfall for the month prior to sampling was higher in 2010 at all 3 stations than those recorded for the same period in 2009. Rainfall for the 48 hours prior to sampling was greater in 2009 at the Harwood station and similar at the other 2 stations for both sampling years;
- TSS trigger value (20mg/L) was exceeded in the 2010 sampling run only at Lake Wooloweyah;
- pH (2010) values were recorded to be below the normal values for estuaries at SP18 (Main Channel), SP8, SP12, SP11 and SP1 (Tributaries);
- EC was considerably lower at all sites during the 2010 sampling run;

- Total Nitrogen exceeded the trigger value of 0.3 (mg/L N) at all sites in both sampling years. Total Phosphorous trigger value (0.025 mg/L P) was also exceeded in both sampling years at all Main Channel and Tributaries Sites, and Lake Wooloweyah (lagoons sites). At the Lagoons Sites, P was below trigger value in 2009 at SP9 and SP10 (Broadwater), but above trigger value in 2010.
- Nitrate and Ammonia values in 2010 generally exceeded the guidelines at most sites except for some of the sites at Lake Wooloweyah, which were below trigger levels.
- DO at levels of less than 5 mg/L (i.e. below trigger level) were recorded for SP12 and SP11 (South Arm), SP8 (North Arm) and SP18 (Main Channel) consistently in both sampling periods;
- BOD levels for SP3 & SP2 (Lake Wooloweyah) are indicative of lightly to moderately polluted waters. However, DO levels at the same sites (for both years) display concentrations well above 5 mg/L;
- Dissolved Aluminium (AI) and Iron (Fe) concentrations were considerably higher in 2010 than those recorded in 2009. In regard to Aluminium concentrations, only SP16 recoded lower concentrations than 2009; and
- Sulfate levels (in water) were lower in 2010 than those recorded in 2009, whilst AI and Fe are generally higher in 2010 than the concentrations recorded in 2009.

The testing of fish/prawn samples (2009 only) shows that whilst heavy metals were present, the levels at which they were found were not considered toxic to both aquatic species or for human consumption. It is possible that these levels would inhibit growth rates but this inhibition is considered to be fairly minor.

Overall, the concentrations of all contaminants tested were found to be below the acceptable levels, therefore; none of the testing can point to a specific contamination source that may have affected prawn growth. Nutrient inputs and the presence of elevated concentrations of Aluminium and Iron suggest that run off from upstream lands is entering the river in concentrations above the acceptable limits, but with no collation of available data on the Clarence River, this may be typical background nutrient and aluminium/iron levels.

Given the variation of physical factors (such as rainfall received, tidal fluxes, flow conditions etc.) experienced during the two discrete sampling and analysis events, a degree of variation is expected. Nevertheless, the following issues have been identified:

• Concentrations of both TN (and NOx) and TP continue to exceed the adopted trigger values, suggesting significant sources of nutrient enter the estuary;

- Reduction in marine influence was observed at the majority of sites as evidenced by the reduction in CI and SO₄ recorded, along with greater variation of C:;SO₄ ratios;
- Salinity levels are considerably lower at all sites in the 2010 sampling run despite a relatively lower annual rainfall when compared to last year's records. However, rainfalls for the month prior to the sampling were relatively higher in 2010 than the same period in 2009. Additionally, tidal variations and subsequent changes in water column depth were not accounted for in the sampling and monitoring effort. These factors might explain the difference in salinity levels observed between the two sampling years.
- A net increase in the acid generating potential of benthic sediments was identified between the discrete sampling and analysis periods;
- An increase of heavy metal concentrations (principally Fe and Al) within surface water samples was also identified during the recent sampling effort.

The above summary is intended to provide general information on the findings of the Clarence River study conducted by EAL on behalf of the Professional Fishermans Association Inc.

KEYWORDS:

School prawn, Clarence River, water analysis, sediment analysis

Acknowledgements

The PFA would like to thank the EAL for its quick response to our request for sample collection and analysis. In addition we would like to thank the fishers who collected the fish and prawn samples for testing and who identified the 18 sites for sampling. And importantly we thank the FRDC for supporting this project.

Background/ Need

On 14 December 2009 the Clarence River estuary prawn trawl fishermen closed the River and Lake Wooloweyah to prawn trawling until 4 January 2010. This at a time when harvest rates should be peaking to meet the demand for the school prawns over the Xmas and New Year period. The reason for the decision was based on the small body size of the school prawn in the lake and river. They were not growing despite what seemed to be ideal conditions. Following the major flood in May and a minor fresh in October it was expected that the up coming river trawl season would be a bumper.

For months there has been a problem with the size of the prawns in the river system. Although the reason is unknown, theories include:

- high water temp (29 30 degrees) that may not be conducive (too high) to the micro food the prawns eat;
- something left as a residue (e.g., black sludge) after the floods because the prawns are travelling when they should not be (small ones going to sea);
- prawns are not separating into different class sizes as they usually do;
- flood mud on the banks from May that still has no grass growing on it in some places;
- pocket nets catching small travelling prawns when they normally catch a better grade of prawn;
- fish dead (Coldstream River about mid November); bream dead in crab traps and eels dead in traps (South Arm looked like they have been boiled);

The Clarence estuary prawn trawl is responsible for about 500 tonnes of catch annually; it is a major supplier for the recreational fishing bait market and supplies to numerous markets for human consumption up and down the east coast. Renowned for their high quality, these prawns are strongly sought after. The estuary prawn trawl fishery is significant for local employment and provides many flow-on benefits to the region including processing, transport and other service providers.

Unless the likely problem is identified and possible causes are eliminated, there could be ongoing impacts.

Objectives

- 1. Identify 18 key sites in the lower Clarence river for sediment and water sample testing
- 2. Engage a certified testing laboratory to sample and test these sites for a range of possible contaminants
- 3. Report on these test and results and determine a course in conjunction with relevant authorities of action if test results determine this
- 4. Engage a certified testing laboratory to test fish and prawn samples supplied by the PFA for a range of possible contaminants

Note: Objective 4 was not included in the second round of sampling in December 2010 because the results in 2009 did not warrant a repeat and in addition there was insufficient funds in the budget to complete this sampling a second time.

Methods

EAL Consulting of Southern Cross University undertook a comprehensive assessment of physical and chemical attributes of water, sediment and biological samples within the Clarence River and a select number of tributaries (Lake Wooloweyah, Coldstream River, Shark Creek, Maclean Broadwater). A total of eighteen (18) sediment and near-surface (i.e. benthic) sediment samples were collected between the River Mouth and the Ulmarra ferry. In addition, eleven (11) locations were netted for biological samples (prawn, mullet, whiting, and bream) for 2009 only. These products were supplied by the PFA..

Sediment, Water and Biological samples were analysed for the following physicochemical parameters and specific analytes:

SEDIMENTS:

- Physico-chemical: pH1:5, EC1:5, Resistivity, Chloride, Sulfate
- Specific Contaminants: Silver, Arsenic, Lead, Cadmium, Chromium, Copper, Manganese, Nickel, Selenium, Zinc, Mercury, Iron, Aluminium, Tin,
- Organochlorine Pesticides (OCP): including Aldrin, Cis-chlordane, Transchlordane, HCB, DDD, DDE, DDT, Alpha-BHC, Beta-BHC, Delta-BHC, Lindane, Dieldrin, Endrin, Heptachlor, Heptachor epoxide, Alphaendosulfan, Beta-endosulfan, Endosulfan sulfate, Methoxychlor)
- Organophosphorus Pesticides (OPP): includes Dichlorvos, Phosdrin, Demeton (total), Ethoprop, Monocrotophos, Phorate, Dimethoate, Diazinon, Disulfoton, Methyl parathion, Chloropyrifos, Ronnel, Parathion, Stirofos, Prothiofos, Azinophos methyl, Coumaphos, Fenitrothion, Fenthion, Malathion)

- Polychlorinated Biphenyls (PCB):
- Acid Sulfate Soils: Oxidisable Sulfur, Titratable Actual Acidity, Acid Neutralising Capability, Acid Volatile Sulfur

WATER:

- Physico-chemical: pH, Electrical Conduc. (EC), Total Dissolved Solids (TDS), Total, Suspended Solids (TSS), Bicarbonate, Chloride, Sulfate, Water Hardness, Biochemical Oxygen Demand (BOD), Total Phosphorus (TP), Orthophosphate, Total Nitrogen, Nitrate, Nitrite, Ammonia
- •
- Water Specific Contaminants: Sodium, Potassium, Calcium, Magnesium, SAR, Silver, Aluminium, Arsenic, Cadmium, Chromium, Copper, Iron, Manganese, Nickel, Lead, Zinc, Mercury, Tin, OCP, OPP, PCB

BIOLOGICAL:

• Specific Contaminants: Silver, Aluminium, Arsenic, Cadmium, Chromium, Copper, Iron, Manganese, Nickel, Lead, Zinc, Mercury, Tin, OCP, OPP, PCB

In addition to the above, profile data for each specific site will be collected to provide a vertical representation of specific physico-chemical parameters. Pesticide and PCB analyses will be undertaken at trace level detection limits in an attempt to identify trace levels of such contaminants.

In situ water quality testing was undertaken from a small vessel anchored over each site. Following profile logging for pH, EC, salinity, temperature, turbidity, Dissolved Oxygen (DO) and Total Dissolved Solids (TDS), water samples were collected in close proximity to the benthic surface via a pump and transferred immediately to bottles. Sediment samples were collected using a grab sampler and immediately transferred into glass jars. All samples were stored in an esky and immediately frozen upon return to the laboratory.

OCP/OPP/PCB analyses were subcontracted to Labmark laboratories for both sediment and water samples.

Biological samples were delivered to the EAL laboratory (frozen) by PFA EO John Harrison. Samples were ground and digested with NSW Industry & Investment Diagnostics and Analytical Services subcontracted to undertake residue testing (OCP/OPP/PCB).

Based on the results of this work, the PFA will discuss potential management options available with a range of Government agencies and other key stakeholders.

Results/Discussion

This was not an extensive study to show cause and effect relationship. It was a snap shot to see if there were unusual levels of contaminants that could possibly be flagged for further investigation as a contributing factor to low prawn growth rate.

Results and discussion of this research are presented in Appendix C and D of this report.

In brief, the key results are as follows:

The initial round of testing and reporting provided to the Professional Fishermen's Association as part of the 2009 investigation (i.e. summary report dated 10 March 2010) aimed at targeting potential contaminants associated with land uses predominant within the Clarence Catchment (i.e. pesticide use within rural areas, heavy metal contaminant loads potentially associated with urban land uses, acid sulfate inputs etc.). The sampling and analysis effort focused upon assessing concentrations of these particular contaminants in waters, sediments and biota. With the application of appropriate and contemporary trigger levels (relevant to each specific parameter), no parameter was found to represent a significant risk to biotic (e.g. prawn) populations as consistent with the limited scope of the report.

Because of the findings of the 2009 effort, the need for replication of contaminant analysis in biota and sediments was considered redundant and was subsequently not included in the 2010 effort (i.e. the Report). It was considered more appropriate and cost-effective to focus the recent effort upon gathering further (corresponding and comparable) information that would relate directly to habitat health (i.e. pertinent to areas of prawn harvest as identified by PFA). The refinement of the information collected potentially allows for the ready identification of linkages between habitat availability and environmental parameters such as fundamental physico-chemical parameters (such as pH, EC, temperature etc.), physical attributes (such as sedimentation and foraging habitat) and cumulative contaminant loads.

The broad scope (in terms of objectives and area sampled) of the works completed to date have provided snapshots of conditions within the sampling regions of the Clarence Estuary. Further refinement of the scope is recommended as set for Section 6.1 of the Report.

The results of the tests at the 18 sites 2009 and 2010 and on the fish and prawn samples (2009 only) all returned within acceptable parameters. There was no evidence of any excessive contaminants in any results.

This result whilst encouraging in view of the quality of the catch did not assist in identifying the cause of the prawns not growing. Given the anecdotal evidence along the coast that the same scenario (2009) was seen in all but one (Myall Lake) estuary/river system it can possibly be assumed that this was a natural occurring phenomenon.

Benefits and adoption

This study did not identify the cause of a reduced growth rate of school prawn. However, based on the samples collected during 2009 and 2010, contaminants did not appear to be an obvious contributor to the observed growth trend. Although contaminants can not be eliminated as a cause (study was inconclusive), the work suggests that factors other than contaminates should be investigated as the primary driver/s of this observed trend in growth rate.

This information will be conveyed (where appropriate) as a formal scientific report to the relevant authorities including the CMA, Council, Fisheries, Fishers, CRFC, and others.

Potential beneficiaries are the Clarence estuary prawn trawl fishermen, Clarence River Fishermen's Cooperative, suppliers of goods and services, customers, recreational fishers, and the people that enjoy seafood from this region.

Planned outcomes

The project has provided better information to assist in our understanding of the environmental conditions in the lower reaches of the Clarence River. It has enabled rapid testing of both water and sediment within the lower reaches of the Clarence river to assist in either identifying or eliminating possible causes for the seemingly lack of growth in the school prawns in this current season.

The results of the tests at the 18 sites 2009 and 2010 and on the fish and prawn samples (2009 only) all returned within acceptable parameters. These initial studies suggest that there was no evidence of any excessive contaminants that may impede prawn growth rate.

The presence of elevated concentrations of Aluminium and Iron suggest that run off from upstream land is entering the river in concentrations that may possibly be above acceptable limits, but with no collation of available data on the Clarence River, this may be typical background nutrient and aluminium/iron levels. In response, possible areas for improvement in land management practices to reduce the inflow of high levels of nutrients and other contaminants will be discussed with the Clarence Valley Council, State Government agencies, other key stakeholders such as the Cane Growers Association, the Clarence Estuary Partnership project and others.

Further sampling in the following years will provide a more robust data set however the timing of these samples and the necessary financial support needs to be worked out.

Conclusion

"Looking at metals in fish and prawns was a good option in order to know that both are safe for human consumption. However finding baselines for metals in fish/prawns is difficult, in terms of whether the levels detected affect the health of the fish/shrimp not only from a human health consumption point of view. Finding correlative data which demonstrates that certain tissue levels correspond to deleterious impacts on health is harder still. The role of organic pollutants in aquatic animals is important to examine. However it is tricky to determine the best time for sampling as it is hard to predict when exposure is taking place. Sampling after the prawns have already been affected will tell us little about the causes as the prawn genetics will have probably been affected earlier on. Consequently it is hard to pick an optimal sampling time. In addition the cause of exposure may not directly affect the prawn, but instead the food availability or other parts of the ecosystem. Overall, it is hard to draw any conclusions based on two sampling periods even if they were undertaken in two different years. Sustained monitoring is recommended" (Dr Ana Rubio-Zuazo, pers. Comm. 2011).

The reason for the lack of growth in school prawns in the Clarence River still remains unknown. Further sampling in the following years will provide a more robust data set however the timing of these samples and the necessary financial support needs to be worked out.

Attachment A: 2010 Report

EAL Consulting Services



10th March 2010

TO: Professional Fishermen's Association ATT: John Harrison 51 – 55 River Street MACLEAN NSW 2463

RE: Sampling and analysis of sediment, water and biological samples collected from the Clarence River in response to recent closure(s) to prawn trawling

SUMMARY

EAL's sampling and testing program for the Clarence River shows that, during the summer period investigated, the water quality is within acceptable limits for the region. Information regarding water quality of the Clarence River itself was not collected and collated as part of this study; therefore our assumptions are based on regional information.

We didn't find any heavy metals or pesticides (in waters, sediment of fish/prawn samples) in concentrations considered toxic to fish, crustaceans and other estuarine life (as per the current water quality guidelines).

Within areas of the Clarence with low flushing (i.e. Lake Wooleweyah and Maclean Broadwater) and upstream areas, the testing showed that Acid Sulfate Soils were present in the sediment. Although these sediments are below the water table and not exposed to air, the potential exists for these materials to be disturbed and to produce acidic products, metals and to potentially deoxygenate waters in the case of iron monosulfides (black sludge found in Lake Woolweyah and Maclean Broadwater).

In areas where waters were turbid (i.e. cloudy), levels of nutrient such as nitrogen and phosphorus typically associated with fertilisers and septic run-off were found to be high.

Of all heavy metals EAL analysed, Aluminium and Iron where found to be present in high concentrations upstream, likely due to acid sulfate run off from ASS affected lands around the Coldstream and Shark Creek.

The testing of fish/prawn samples shows that whilst heavy metals were present, the levels at which they were found were not considered to be toxic to both aquatic species or for human consumption. It is possible that these levels would inhibit growth rates but this inhibition is considered to be fairly minor.







Overall, the concentrations of all contaminants tested were found to be below the acceptable levels, therefore; none of the testing can point to a specific contamination source that may have affected prawn growth. Nutrient inputs and the presence of elevated concentrations of Aluminium and Iron suggest that run off from upstream lands is entering the river in concentrations above the acceptable limits, but with no collation of available data on the Clarence River, this may be typical background nutrient and aluminium/iron levels.

The above summary is intended to provide general information on the findings of the Clarence River study conducted by EAL on behalf of the Professional Fishermans Association. EAL would like to thank John Harrison and the staff at PFA for their assistance provided and for the opportunity to undertake this work.

SAMPLING AND ANALYSES OF SEDIMENTS, WATERS AND BIOTA COLLECTED FROM THE CLARENCE RIVER AND TRIBUTARIES.

In response to a request from the Professional Fishermen's Association (PFA), EAL has undertaken a comprehensive assessment of physical and chemical attributes within the Clarence River and a select number of tributaries (Lake Woolewayah, coldstream River, Shark Creek, Maclean Broadwater).

Based on information provided by PFA, a total of eighteen (18) sediment and nearsurface (i.e. benthic) sediment samples were collected between the River Mouth and the Ulmarra ferry (refer attached Fig. 1). In addition, eleven (11) locations were netted for biological samples (prawn, mullet, whiting, and bream) which were supplied by PFA.

Sediment, Water and Biological samples were analysed for the following physico-chemical parameters and specific analytes:

Sample Media	Analytes					
Sediment	Physico-chemical	Texture $pH_{1:5}$ $EC_{1:5}$	Resistivity Chloride Sulfate			
	Specific Contaminants	Silver Arsenic Lead Cadmium Chromium Copper	Manganese Nickel Selenium Zinc Mercury Iron	Aluminium Tin OCP* OPP** PCB***		
	Acid Sulfate Soils	Oxidisable Sulfur Titratable Actual Acidity Acid Neutralising Capability Acid Volatile Sulfur				

* Organochlorine Pesticides - including Aldrin, Cis-chlordane, Trans-chlordane, HCB, DDD, DDE, DDT, Alpha-BHC, Beta-BHC, Delta-BHC, Lindane, Dieldrin, Endrin, Heptachlor, Heptachor epoxide, Alpha-endosulfan, Beta-endosulfan, Endosulfan sulfate, Methoxychlor)

** Organophosphorus Pesticides - includes Dichlorvos, Phosdrin, Demeton (total), Ethoprop, Monocrotophos, Phorate, Dimethoate, Diazinon, Disulfoton, Methyl parathion, Chloropyrifos, Ronnel, Parathion, Stirofos, Prothiofos, Azinophos methyl, Coumaphos, Fenitrothion, Fenthion, Malathion)

***Polychlorinated Biphenyls







Sample Media	Analytes		
Water	Physico-chemical	pH Electrical Conduc. (EC) Total Dissolved Solids (TDS) Total Suspended Solids (TSS) Bicarbonate Chloride Sulfate	Water Hardness Biochemical Oxygen Demand (BOD) Total Phosphorus (TP) Orthophosphate Total Nitrogen Nitrate Nitrite Ammonia
	Specific Contaminants	Sodium Potassium Calcium Magnesium SAR Silver Aluminium Arsenic Cadmium Chromium Copper	Iron Manganese Nickel Lead Zinc Mercury Tin OCP OPP PCB
Biological	Specific Contaminants	Silver Aluminium Arsenic Cadmium Chromium Copper Iron Manganese	Nickel Lead Zinc Mercury Tin OCP OPP PCB

Pesticide and PCB analyses were undertaken at trace level detection limits in an attempt to identify trace levels of such contaminants.

In addition to the above, profile data for each specific site was collected to provide a vertical representation of specific physico-chemical parameters. Site Log Sheets 1 – 18 are enclosed.

SAMPLING METHODOLOGY

EAL staff performed sampling and site work over a two day period (22nd & 23rd December 2009), attending all eighteen sites and establishing the vertical profile of each site as shown in Fig. 1.







In situ water quality testing was undertaken from a 14ft vessel anchored over each site. Following profile logging for pH, EC, salinity, temperature, turbidity, Dissolved Oxygen (DO) and Total Dissolved Solids (TDS), water samples were collected in close proximity to the benthic surface. Samples were collected via pumping (12V submersible pump) and transferred immediately to:

- 1. 1L Plastic bottle (unpreserved);
- 2. 500mL Glass bottle (unpreserved);
- 3. Two 43mL glass vials (Sulfuric acid preservation).

Sediment samples were collected using a grab sampler and were immediately transferred into 250mL glass jars (unpreserved).

All samples were stored in an esky and immediately frozen upon return to the laboratory. OCP/OPP/PCB analyses were subcontracted to Labmark laboratories for both sediment and water samples.

Biological samples were delivered to the laboratory (frozen) by PFA staff (John Harrison). Samples were ground and digested with NSW Industry & Investment Diagnostics and Analytical Services subcontracted to undertake residue testing (OCP/OPP/PCB).

A copy of all laboratory certificates is enclosed. The following provides a brief comparison of relevant attributes for each sampling location (i.e. SP1 – 18).

Sediment Sampling Results Discussion

Chemical conditions within the sediment (i.e. specifically pH & Electrical Conductivity (EC)) displayed typical estuarine conditions with both pH and salinity (as derived from EC) decreasing with distance from the river mouth. Fig. 2 below provides a graphical representation of this trend.

It is interesting to note the observed decline in obvious seagrass beds within the downstream reaches of the Clarence River. Given the recent flood event(s) an increased sediment load (as evidenced by the changing sand spits and bars present throughout the river) may have given rise to a decrease in frequency and concentration of such ecological communities.









Fig. 2: EC and pH conditions recorded within sediment samples for each site (river mouth to Ulmarra Ferry)

Fig. 3 below shows the concentrations of the heavy metals Arsenic, Lead, Chromium and copper recorded in sediment samples from each site (from river mouth to Ulmarra ferry site).

No metal concentrations were found to exceed the ANZECC/ARMCANZ (2000) guideline values $^{1}\!\!.$

¹ ANZECC/ARMCANZ (2000). Australian and New Zealand Guidelines for fresh and marine water quality. Australian and New Zealand Environment and Conservation Council/Agriculture and Resource Management Council of Australia and New Zealand, Canberra, ACT.









Fig. 3 Concentrations of the heavy metals Arsenic, Lead, Chromium and copper recorded in sediment samples from each site (from river mouth to Ulmarra ferry site).

Analysis of sediment samples to ascertain the presence of naturally occurring Acid Sulfate Soil (ASS) layers indicate the presence of significant quantities of oxidisable sulfur. This is an excellent indicator of the presence of potential sulfidic sediments. The concentration and presence of ASS sediments is seen to increase with distance from the river mouth, as shown below in Fig. 4. Chloride sulfate analyses showed a significant contribution of sulfate to the estuarine system, especially in locations found to contain potential acid sulfate sediments.









Fig. 4: %Scr concentrations against pH (river mouth to Ulmarra Ferry)

The sediment analysis does not identify any particular contaminant or specific physicochemical parameter that exceeds the ANZECC/ARMANZ (2000) sediment trigger values. Salinity and pH values are as expected and metal concentrations; although variable do not exceed the high trigger values adopted for this investigation. Samples collected in low energy environments typically displayed characteristics of ASS however; sediments collected in closer proximity to the river mouth demonstrated a high acid neutralising capability, suitably buffering any potential acidity.

Water Sampling Results Discussion

Chemical conditions within the near surface waters (i.e. specifically pH & Electrical Conductivity (EC)) displayed typical estuarine conditions with both pH and salinity (as derived from EC) decreasing with distance from the river mouth. Fig. 5 below provides a graphical representation of this trend.









Fig. 5: Water EC and pH characteristics from river mouth to Ulmarra ferry

Figs. 6, 7 and 8 below show the concentrations of the macronutrients (Total Nitrogen, Total Phosphorus, Nitrate, Nitrite and Ammonia) recorded in water samples from each site (from river mouth to Ulmarra ferry site). Values recorded for Total Suspended Solids (TSS) are also shown in Figs. 6 and 7.













Fig. 7: TP concentrations (including TSS values) in water samples from river mouth to Ulmarra ferry $% \left({{\rm TSS}} \right) = {\rm TSS} \left({{\rm TSS}} \right) =$







Nutrient values may have been a function of increased sediment loads encountered during sampling with nutrient analysis not targeting the dissolved phase.



Fig. 8: NO_x/NH₃ concentrations in water samples from river mouth to Ulmarra ferry

Figs. 9, 10 and 11 below shows the concentrations of the heavy metals Arsenic, Lead, Zinc, Copper, Aluminium and Iron recorded in water samples from each site (from river mouth to Ulmarra ferry site).









Fig. 9: Aluminium (Al) and Iron (Fe) concentrations in water samples from river mouth to Ulmarra ferry



Fig. 10: Arsenic (As) and Lead (Pb) concentrations in water samples from river mouth to Ulmarra ferry









Fig. 11: Chromium (Cr), Copper (Cu) and Zinc (Zn) concentrations in water samples from river mouth to Ulmarra ferry

The water analysis does not identify any particular contaminant or specific physicochemical parameter that exceeds the ANZECC/ARMANZ (2000) marine water trigger values (with the exception of Zinc). Salinity and pH values are as expected and metal concentrations; although variable do not exceed the trigger values adopted for this investigation.

Nutrient values encountered for this investigation showed total nutrients were in excess of the adopted guideline values; however, as dissolved nutrients were not targeted, these results may be elevated due to high Total Suspended Solids (TSS) values.

Biological Testing Results Discussion

Metal concentrations found in bream, whiting, mullet and prawn specimens collected during this investigation are provided in Fig. 12, 13 and 14. With no reliable trigger values as yet derived for safe levels of metal contaminants in seafood, no reliable assumption can be made at this stage. No OCP/OPP/PCB concentrations were found to exceed the limit of reporting.









Fig. 12: Metal concentrations in prawn specimens from Clarence River



Fig. 13: Metal concentrations in bream specimens from Clarence River









Fig. 14: Metal concentrations in mullet and whiting specimens from Clarence River

Specific Site Characterisation

River Mouth

Samples SP5, SP6, SP7 and SP8 were collected within the downstream reaches of the Clarence River and the North arm and are considered to represent the downstream characteristics (at least geographically) of the River. The direct marine influence is evident with high pH and high salinity (as derived from EC values). Further marine influence is obvious with significant buffering capability is present within river sediment, negating potential acid sulfate impacts.

Lake Wooleweyah

Samples SP1, SP2, SP3, SP4 and SP16 were collected from within Lake Wooleweyah and from channels linked directly to Wooleweyah (Palmers and Romiaka/Oyster). The low energy environment within these locations and elevated nutrients signifies a considerable input of broadscale sediment and nutrient inputs and minimal flushing from environmental flows.







Maclean Broadwater

Samples SP9 and SP10 displayed remarkably dissimilar characteristics to samples collected in Lake Wooleweyah, suggesting higher sediment loads and formation of significant quantities of potential acid sulfate sediments. Nutrient inputs were markedly lower suggesting inputs into the Lake Wooleweyah catchment were elevated as a result of a point source (or a number of point sources).

Lawrence to Southgate/Cowper

Samples SP11, SP12, SP13, SP17 and SP18, especially SP17 show the influence of incoming fresh waters with decreased EC and increased Aluminium and Iron Loads.

Cowper to Ulmarra Ferry

SP14 and SP15 show predominantly neutral pH values with some saline influence still apparent.

Conclusions and Recommendations

With the current information available and with the application of available trigger levels, no specific parameter or contaminant investigated during this assessment was considered to represent a significant risk to water quality or fish/prawn recruitment and/or growth.

The sampling and analysis effort executed have provided representative picture of the individual conditions at each sampling location. Therefore the results obtained represent a snapshot of the sites for the specific tidal and seasonal conditions prevalent at that time.

With no specific contaminant or water quality issues obviously identifiable, it may be prudent to assume that the recent decline in prawn size (observed as part of the commercial catch) is a result of ecological factors (such as a reduction in habitat or fecundity and recruitment rates for the species.

To build upon the information gathered to date, and to gain a more appreciable understanding of the changing conditions within the river (e.g. seasonally), further investigations are considered vital. With the information currently at hand, a much more refined investigation is recommended, focusing primarily upon the major water quality features and minimising sampling effort and costs on specific contaminant investigation (i.e. reduced testing of heavy metals and pesticides). A seasonal effort is seen as the most appropriate investigation frequency, allowing conditions within the Clarence River (associated with the commercial fishing industry interests) to be catalogued and interpreted with a whole picture view.

A further suggestion is a temporal study using Geographic Information Systems (GIS) to map the changing extent of habitat factors (i.e. seagrass communities, sediment movement etc.) in the Clarence.







If you should wish to discuss the results or methods utilised in this investigation further, please feel free to contact either myself or the laboratory manager Graham Lancaster on 02 6620 3678.

Regards,

chi

Nick Davison Senior Environmental Consultant EAL Consulting Services

......















Fig. 1: Sample Locations



Southern Cross UNIVERSITY A new way to think



SEDIMENT ANALYSIS RESULT CERTIFICATES

RESULTS OF SEDIMENT ANALYSIS (Page 1 of 1)

18 sediment samples collected by EAL for Professional Fishes Association on 23rd December, 2009 - Lab Job No. A6739 Analysis requested by John Harrison, Your Job.: 2737

ANALYTE	METHOD REFERENCE	Sample 1 SP1	Sample 2 SP2	Sample 3 SP3	Sample 4 SP4	Sample 5 SP5	Sample 6 SP6	Sample 7 SP7	Sample 8 SP8
	Job No.	A6739/1	A6739/2	A6739/3	A6739/4	A6739/5	A6739/6	A6739/7	A6739/8
Texture Soil pH (1:5 water) Soil Conductivity (1:5 water dS/m) Soil Resistivity (ohm.mm)	See note 2 below. Rayment and Higgins 4A1 Rayment and Higgins 4B1 Calculation	Coarse 8.38 4.110 2,433	Medium 7.91 13.920 718	Fine 7.94 13.430 745	Fine 8.10 8.430 1,186	Coarse 8.01 5.500 1,818	Coarse 8.07 2.440 4,098	Coarse 7.72 3.230 3,096	Medium 7.46 2.600 3,846
Chloride (mg/kg)	Vater Extract- Rayment and Higgins	5794	21369	21558	13108	8797	3619	4412	3484
Chloride (as %)	Calculation	0.579	2.137	2.156	1.311	0.880	0.362	0.441	0.348
Sulfate (mg/kg)	Vater Extract- Rayment and Higgins	837	2,982	2,934	1,866	1,170	480	672	756
Sulfate (as % SO3)	Calculation	0.067	0.239	0.235	0.149	0.094	0.038	0.054	0.060
SILVER (mg/Kg DW)	a	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	<0.1	0.5	0.1	0.1
LEAD (mg/Kg DW)	a	3.0	13.4	13.2	9.0 8.6	4.5	2.3	6.3	6.5
CADMIUM (mg/Kg DW)	а	<0.1	0.1	0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
CHROMIUM (mg/Kg DW)	а	8.3	29.9	29.4	20.1	22.3	4.9	18.4	11.7
COPPER (mg/Kg DW)	а	4.0	14.0	14.1	9.1	4.4	1.6	7.3	8.2
MANGANESE (mg/Kg DW)	а	138.4	437.6	443.5	320.9	156.5	97.6	214.4	62.0
NICKEL (mg/Kg DW)	а	4.3	18.9	21.7	13.3	9.4	2.5	14.8	7.8
SELENIUM (mg/Kg DW)	а	0.3	0.8	0.8	0.5	0.3	0.2	0.4	0.4
ZINC (mg/Kg DW)	a	57.6	95.8	95.1	81.7	67.2	41.4	74.3	0 00
MERCORY (mg/Kg DW)	a	0.01	0.04	0.04	0.02	0.01	0.01	0.02	0.02
IRON (% DW)	а	0.68	2.86	2.89	2.08	1.14	0.24	1.55	1.04
ALUMINIUM (% DW)	а	0.31	1.92	1.98	1.21	0.53	0.12	0.91	0.83
TIN (mg/Kg)	а	1.04	2.04	1.92	1.33	0.92	0.32	1.12	0.83
PESTICIDE ANALYSIS SCREEN 4, 4 DDT (mg/Kg) Methoxychlor (mg/kg) Other Organochlorine Pesticides (mg/Kg)	с с с	 	<0.05 <0.05 <0.01	<0.05 <0.05 <0.01		<0.05 <0.05 <0.01	 	 	<0.05 <0.05 <0.01
Demeton (total) (mg/kg) Other Organophosphate Pesticides (mg/Kg)	c c		<0.02 <0.01	<0.02 <0.01		<0.02 <0.01			<0.02 <0.01
PCB's (mg/Kg)	с		<0.1	<0.1		<0.1			<0.1

METHODS REFERENCE

a. ^{1:3}Nitric/HCI digest - APHA 3120 ICPMS

a. Initiation agest - A first state in the state of the s

NOTES

1. Column 1 ' Residential with gardens and accessible soil including childrens daycare centres, preschools, primary schools, town houses or villas' (NSW EPA 1998)

2. Environmental Soil Quality Guidelines, Page 40, ANZECC, 1992.

Additional NOTES / = Dry Weigh

DW = DIY Weight	
Organochlorine pesticide (OC's) screen:	(Aldrin, Cis-chlordane, Trans-chlordane, HCB, DDD, DDE, DDT, Alpha-BHC, Beta-BHC, Delta-BHC, Lindane, Dieldrin, Endrin, Heptachlor, Heptachor epoxide, Alpha-endosulfan, Beta-endosulfan, Endosulfan sulfate, Methoxychlor)
Organophosphorus pesticide (OP's) screen:	(Dichlorvos, Phosdrin, Demeton (total), Ethoprop, Monocrotophos, Phorate, Dimethoate, Diazinon, Disulfoton, Methyl parathion, Chloropyrifos, Ronnel, Parathion, Stirofos, Prothiofos, Azinophos methyl, Coumaphos, Fenitrothion, Fenthion, Malathion)
PCB's = Polychloriniated Biphenyls	(Arochlor 1016, 1232, 1242, 1248, 1254, 1260)



EAL Consulting Service Southern Cross University Military Road EAST LISMORE 2480 NSW T: (61-2) 6620 3678 W: www.scu.edu.au/eal





RESULTS OF ACID SULFATE SOIL ANALYSIS

16 sediment samples collected by EAL for Professional Fishes Association on 23rd December, 2009 - Lab Job No. A6739 Analysis requested by John Harrison. - Your Project: 2737

			required if ph _{KCI} > 0.5											
	EAL		MOIS	TURE	ACID V	OLATILE	TITR	TITRATABLE ACTUAL		REDUCED INORGANIC		NEUTRALISING	NET ACIDITY	LIME CALCULATION
Sample Site	lab	Texture	CON	TENT	SULFL	JR (AVS)	4	ACIDITY (TAA)		SULFUR	CAP	ACITY (ANC _{BT})	Chromium Suite	Chromium Suite
	code			1	(% Say WW)	(% Say DW)		(To pH 6.5)	(% chr	(% chromium reducible S)			(mole H*/tonne)	(kg CaCO ₃ /tonne DW)
	couc	(note 6)	(%	(g	(). Out mil)	(// 041 011)		(· r · · · /	(70 0111)				((3,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,
		(moisture	moisture /										(includes 1.5 safety Factor
			of total wet	g of oven				(((when liming rate is ⁺ ve)
			weight)	dry soil)	(note 3)	(note 3)	рН _{ксі}	(mole H'/tonne)	(%Scr)	(mole H'/tonne)	(% CaCO ₃	(mole H'/tonne)	(based on %Scrs)	
Method No.							23A	23F	22B	a- 22B	19A2	a-19A2	note 5	note 4 and 6
		~						•		10	0.54	100	=0	
SP1	A6739/1	Coarse	30.3	0.43			1.76	0	0.03	19	0.54	108	-53	-2.7
SP2	A6739/2	Medium	58.4	1.40	0.00	0.000	8.53	0	0.21	131	3.65	729	-355	-17.8
SP3	A6739/3	Fine	57.7	1.36	0.00	0.000	7.46	0	0.20	125	4.21	841	-436	-21.8
SP4	A6739/4	Fine	43.3	0.77	0.00	0.000	7.49	0	0.19	119	1.46	292	-76	-3.8
SP5	A6739/5	Coarse	33.6	0.51			7.47	0	0.01	6	I		6	0.5
SP6	A6739/6	Coarse	213	0.27			7 17	0	~0.01	٥			0	0.0
607	A6720/7	Coorco	21.0	0.47	0.00	0.000	6.04	0	0.01	10	0.47		44	2.2
367	A0733/7	Madium	32.1	0.47	0.00	0.000	0.94	0	0.03	19	0.47	94	-44	-2.2
5P8	A0739/8	wealum	33.7	0.51	0.00	0.000	0.70	0	0.35	218	0.30	60	178	13.4
SP9	A6739/9	Fine	63.3	1.72	0.01	0.027	6.77	0	0.63	393	0.85	170	280	21.0
SP10	A6739/10	Fine	49.3	0.97	0.00	0.000	6.75	0	0.55	343	0.55	110	270	20.3
SP11	A6739/11	Fine	59.2	1.45			6.14	13	0.53	331			343	25.8
SP12	A6739/12	Fine	64.0	1.78			5.02	62	0.29	181	I		243	18.3
SP13	A6739/13	Coarse	21.2	0.27			6.62	0	0.47	293	0.37	74	244	18.3
SP14	A6739/14	Medium	36.4	0.57			6.00	9	0.17	106			115	87
SP15	46730/15	Coarse	30.3	0.65			5.69	24	0.05	31			55	4 1
SP16	A6720/16	Cooroo	22.0	0.00			0.00	2 .	0.00	44	0.07		0	
3710	AU1 39/10	Coarse	23.0	0.30			0.19	0	0.07	44	0.27	- 54	°	0.0
00/0				0.00			0.00	-	0.00	07	0.0-	F 4	-	
SP17	A6894/1	wedium	26.3	0.36			6.38	5	0.06	37	0.27	54	1	0.5
SP18	A6894/2	Medium	38.4	0.62			6.19	9	0.24	150	0.27	54	123	9.2
							1		I		1		1	

NOTE:

1 - All analysis is Dry Weight (DW) - samples dried and ground immediately upon arrival (unless supplied dried and ground)

2 - Samples analysed by SPOCAS method 23 (ie Suspension Peroxide Oxidation Combined Acidity & sulfate) and 'Chromium Reducible Sulfur' technique (Scr - Method 22B)

3 - Methods from Ahern, CR, McElnea AE, Sullivan LA (2004). Acid Sulfate Soils Laboratory Methods Guidelines. QLD DNRME.

4 - Bulk Density is required for liming rate calculations per soil volume. Lab. Bulk Density is no longer applicable - field bulk density rings can be used and dried/ weighed in the laboratory.

5 - ABA Equation: Net Acidity = Potential Sulfidic Acidity (ie. Scrs or Sox) + Actual Acidity + Retained Acidity - measured ANC/FF (with FF currently defaulted to 1.5)

6 - The neutralising requirement, lime calculation, includes a 1.5 safety margin for acid neutralisation (an increased safety factor may be required in some cases)

7 - For Texture: coarse = sands to loamy sands; medium = sandy loams to light clays; fine = medium to heavy clays and silty clays

8 - ... denotes not requested or required

9 - SCREENING, CRS, TAA and ANC are NATA accredited but other SPOCAS segments are currently not NATA accredited

10- Results at or below detection limits are replaced with '0' for calculation purposes.

11 - Projects that disturb >1000 tonnes of soil, the ≥0.03% S classification guideline would apply (refer to acid sulfate management guidelines).

(Classification of potential acid sulfate material if: coarse Scr≥0.03%S or 19mole H+/t; medium Scr≥0.06%S or 37mole H+/t; fine Scr≥0.1%S or 62mole H+/t) - as per QUASSIT Laboratory Methods Guidelines



Southern Cross University Military Road EAST LISMORE 2480 NSW T: (61-2) 6620 3678 W: www.scu.edu.au/eal



required if all . CE





6 LabMark	Laboratory Report No:			E046299			Pag	e: 5 of 9	Final	Final		
	Client	Name:		Environmenta	d Analysis I	aboratory	plus	cover page		Cer	Certificate	
ENVIRONMENTAL LABORATORIES	Contact Name:			Environmenta	al Analysis I	aboratory	Date: 13/01/10			of Analysis		
	Client	Reference:		Soil and Water Analysis			This report supercedes reports issued or			ı: N/A		
Laboratory Identification		244175	244176	244177	244178	244179	244175d	244175r	244176s	lcs	mb	
Sample Identification		A6739/2	A6739/3	A6739/5	A6739/8	A6739/9	QC	QC	QC	QC	QC	
Depth (m)												
Sampling Date recorded on COC		22/12/09	22/12/09	22/12/09	22/12/09	22/12/09						
Laboratory Extraction (Preparation) Date		8/1/10	8/1/10	8/1/10	8/1/10	8/1/10	8/1/10		8/1/10	8/1/10	8/1/10	
Laboratory Analysis Date		8/1/10	8/1/10	8/1/10	8/1/10	8/1/10	8/1/10		8/1/10	8/1/10	8/1/10	
Method : E013.2												
Organochlorine Pesticides (OC)	EQL											
a-BHC	0.001	*<0.01	*<0.01	*<0.01	*<0.01	*<0.01	*<0.01		107%	74%	< 0.001	
Hexachlorobenzene	0.001	*<0.01	*<0.01	*<0.01	*<0.01	*<0.01	*<0.01		84%	74%	< 0.001	
g-BHC (Lindane)	0.001	*<0.01	*<0.01	*<0.01	*<0.01	*<0.01	*<0.01		94%	87%	< 0.001	
b-BHC	0.001	*<0.01	*<0.01	*<0.01	*<0.01	*<0.01	*<0.01		127%	86%	< 0.001	
d-BHC	0.001	*<0.01	*<0.01	*<0.01	*<0.01	*<0.01	*<0.01		105%	98%	< 0.001	
Heptachlor	0.001	*<0.01	*<0.01	*<0.01	*<0.01	*<0.01	*<0.01		70%	84%	< 0.001	
Aldrin	0.001	*<0.01	*<0.01	*<0.01	*<0.01	*<0.01	*<0.01		82%	75%	< 0.001	
Heptachlor epoxide	0.001	*<0.01	*<0.01	*<0.01	*<0.01	*<0.01	*<0.01		72%	103%	< 0.001	
trans-chlordane	0.001	*<0.01	*<0.01	*<0.01	*<0.01	*<0.01	*<0.01		90%	99%	< 0.001	
Endosulfan I	0.001	*<0.01	*<0.01	*<0.01	*<0.01	*<0.01	*<0.01		88%	72%	< 0.001	
cis-chlordane	0.001	*<0.01	*<0.01	*<0.01	*<0.01	*<0.01	*<0.01		75%	72%	< 0.001	
Dieldrin	0.001	*<0.01	*<0.01	*<0.01	*<0.01	*<0.01	*<0.01		75%	82%	< 0.001	
4,4-DDE	0.001	*<0.01	*<0.01	*<0.01	*<0.01	*<0.01	*<0.01		77%	74%	< 0.001	
Endrin	0.001	*<0.01	*<0.01	*<0.01	*<0.01	*<0.01	*<0.01		78%	84%	< 0.001	
Endosulfan II	0.001	*<0.01	*<0.01	*<0.01	*<0.01	*<0.01	*<0.01		80%	86%	< 0.001	
4,4-DDD	0.001	*<0.01	*<0.01	*<0.01	*<0.01	*<0.01	*<0.01		107%	102%	< 0.001	
Endosulfan sulphate	0.001	*<0.01	*<0.01	*<0.01	*<0.01	*<0.01	*<0.01		79%	88%	< 0.001	
4,4-DDT	0.005	*<0.05	*<0.05	*<0.05	*<0.05	*<0.05	*<0.05		73%	105%	< 0.005	
Methoxychlor	0.005	*<0.05	*<0.05	*<0.05	*<0.05	*<0.05	*<0.05		77%	107%	< 0.005	
DBC (Surr @ 0.2mg/kg)		97%	100%	101%	85%	94%	103%	6%	101%	93%	95%	

Results expressed in mg/kg dry weight unless otherwise specified

Comments: *EQL increased due to matrix interference.

E013.2: 8-10g soil extracted with 20ml DCM/Acetone/Hexane (10:45:45). Analysis by GC/dual ECD.








6) LabMark	Labor	atory Repor	t No: E	2046299			Page	e: 6 of 9		Final	
	Client	Name:	E	Invironmenta	ıl Analysis L	aboratory	plus	cover page		Cert	tificate
ENVIRONMENTAL LABORATORIES	Conta	et Name:	E	Invironmenta	ıl Analysis L	aboratory	Date	e: 13/01/10		of Ana	lysis
	Client	Reference:	S	oil and Wate	r Analysis		This r	eport supercedes	reports issued or	n: N/A	
Laboratory Identification		244175	244176	244177	244178	244179	244175d	244175r	244176s	lcs	mb
Sample Identification		A6739/2	A6739/3	A6739/5	A6739/8	A6739/9	QC	QC	QC	QC	QC
Depth (m)											
Sampling Date recorded on COC		22/12/09	22/12/09	22/12/09	22/12/09	22/12/09					
Laboratory Extraction (Preparation) Date		8/1/10	8/1/10	8/1/10	8/1/10	8/1/10	8/1/10		8/1/10	8/1/10	8/1/10
Laboratory Analysis Date		8/1/10	8/1/10	8/1/10	8/1/10	8/1/10	8/1/10		8/1/10	8/1/10	8/1/10
Method : E013.2 Polychlorinated Biphenyls (PCB) Arochlor 1016 Arochlor 1232 Arochlor 1242 Arochlor 1248 Arochlor 1254 Arochlor 1254 Sum of reported PCBs DBC (Sum @ 0 2mg/m)	EQL 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.01 	*<0.1 *<0.1 *<0.1 *<0.1 *<0.1 *<0.1	*<0.1 *<0.1 *<0.1 *<0.1 *<0.1 *<0.1	*<0.1 *<0.1 *<0.1 *<0.1 *<0.1 *<0.1	*<0.1 *<0.1 *<0.1 *<0.1 *<0.1 *<0.1	*<0.1 *<0.1 *<0.1 *<0.1 *<0.1 *<0.1	*<0.1 *<0.1 *<0.1 *<0.1 *<0.1 *<0.1	 604	 114% 101%		<0.01 <0.01 <0.01 <0.01 <0.01 <0.01
DBC (Surr @ 0.2mg/kg)		9/%	100%	101%	03%	94%0	103%	0%	101%	118%	93%

Results expressed in mg/kg dry weight unless otherwise specified

Comments: *EQL increased due to matrix interference.

E013.2: 8-10g soil extracted with 20ml DCM/Acetone/Hexane (10:45:45). Analysis by GC/dual ECD.



EAL Consulting Service Southern Cross University Military Road EAST LISMORE 2480 NSW T: (61-2) 6620 3678 W: www.scu.edu.au/eal





6) LabMark	Labora	atory Repor	t No:	E046299			Pag	e: 7 of 9		Final	
	Client	Name:		Environmenta	al Analysis I	aboratory	plus	cover page		Cer	tificate
ENVIRONMENTAL LABORATORIES	Conta	et Name:		Environmenta	al Analysis I	aboratory	Date	e: 13/01/10		of Ana	alysis
	Client	Reference:		Soil and Wate	r Analysis		This r	eport supercedes	reports issued or	n: N/A	
Laboratory Identification		244175	244176	244177	244178	244179	244175d	244175r	244176s	lcs	mb
Sample Identification		A6739/2	A6739/3	A6739/5	A6739/8	A6739/9	QC	QC	QC	QC	QC
Depth (m)											
Sampling Date recorded on COC		22/12/09	22/12/09	22/12/09	22/12/09	22/12/09					
Laboratory Extraction (Preparation) Date		8/1/10	8/1/10	8/1/10	8/1/10	8/1/10	8/1/10		8/1/10	8/1/10	8/1/10
Laboratory Analysis Date		8/1/10	9/1/10	9/1/10	9/1/10	9/1/10	9/1/10		9/1/10	8/1/10	8/1/10
Method : E014.2											
Organophosphorus Pesticides (OP)	EQL										
Dichlorvos	0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01		94%	89%	< 0.01
Mevinphos (Phosdrin)	0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01		91%	86%	< 0.01
Demeton (total)	0.02	< 0.02	< 0.02	< 0.02	< 0.02	< 0.02	< 0.02		90%	89%	< 0.02
Ethoprop	0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01		84%	93%	< 0.01
Phorate	0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01		85%	92%	< 0.01
Dimethoate	0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01		98%	94%	< 0.01
Diazinon	0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01		92%	95%	< 0.01
Disulfoton	0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01		81%	84%	< 0.01
Methyl parathion	0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01		116%	88%	< 0.01
Ronnel	0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01		84%	101%	< 0.01
Fenitrothion	0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01		107%	94%	< 0.01
Malathion	0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01		93%	94%	< 0.01
Fenthion	0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01		89%	99%	< 0.01
Chlorpyrifos	0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01		102%	103%	< 0.01
Parathion	0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01		118%	90%	< 0.01
Prothiofos	0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01		90%	94%	< 0.01
Azinophos methyl	0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01		120%	86%	< 0.01
Coumaphos	0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01		107%	110%	< 0.01
TPP (Surr @ 2mg/kg)		91%	103%	114%	88%	95%	102%	11%	106%	119%	128%

Results expressed in mg/kg dry weight unless otherwise specified

Comments:

E014.2: 8-10g soil extracted with 20ml DCM/Acetone/Hexane (10:45:45) and concentrated. Analysis by GC/MSD.







Ph: (03) 953 1868 Dander E: enviro.m	MELBOUR 8 2277 Fax: (03) : nong Road Claytor selbourne@labmar	2NE 9538 2278 P 9538 2278 P VIC 3168 1. k.com.au	Ph: (07) 3902 4 /21 Smallwoor E: enviro.bri	BRISBANE 1600 Fax: (07) 3902 4646 d Place Murarrie QLD 417 sbane@labmark.com.au	3	Ph Ur	: (02) it 1/8 E: er	9476 Leight nviro.s	6533 on Play	Fax: ce Asc @labm	NE) (02) quith nark.o	9476 NSW com.a	8219 2077 au	in an	(nativ k	13	00	-0L	a⊁: .AB	MA	RK	ος'+τ−+'µνος -	. 4		77 A	· ~		in pr -	с.,,,,,
				Environmen	ital	Ana	alys		Req	ues	ię	Cł	ıair	0	f Cu	isto	xdy	(CC)C)										
Comp Add	oany: <u>EN</u> ress: <u>SC</u> EAS	URONMEN U - N ST LIS	VIAL MULITA	ANALYSIS RY RD E NSW	ر ع	4E	3		P Pro Quot	rojec ject N	ct Na Num	ime: ber: nce:									- #Th - Pur	C e COC		umbe will act	r [#] : tas a po	urchase o	rder num	ber if n	iot su
Con	itact: \underline{GR}	AMAM	LAN	CASTER					Sen	d Re	sult	s to:										((email)		. –				
Teleph	mail: \underline{CQ}	() SCU.	ed u	.au.				Res	ults F	Requi	ired	by*:	24 * N	4 hrs lote: T	AT of le	48 ss tha	hrs 🗌 n 5 day] s must	5 Day be pre-a	y 🔲 mange	C d with th	ther the labor	atory ar	nd surch	arges r	nay apply	·		
	1	SAMPLE DESCRI	PTION													AN	ALY	SIS R	EQUIF	RED									
Lab ID 244135 244136 244137 244130 244130 244130 244131 244132 244132 244132 244132	Sample ID A6739/2 5 8 A6739/9 N6740/2 5 6 A6740/9	Date & Time Sampled 22/12/09 22/12/09 22/12/09	Soil / Water Other SED/ SED/ SED/ W	Comments [#]	COMPOSITE	TPH - C6-C9	TPH - C10-C36	WAHS	BTEX :	PAHS	X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X		Soc XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX	Total Phenolics	Speciated Phenols	Wetals - Std 17	Metals - Specify **	Mercury	YICEPA 448.3 Screen		EV	દા	S	p	LS				
244185	A6751/1	23/12/0	2 W				\times					X	•																
# F Relinquish Receiv Relinquish Receiv	read by:	- Chain of Cu	stody Dat Dat Dat Dat	IDIE Totals: NETALS (Please circle)	L): Al; 10	Sb; A	s; Ba	; Be; Sp 730	Bi; B; ecial 9 4	Cd; (Requ	Ca; C uirem	Cs; C nent: 74	s (eg	Cu OH	Fe; F S issu		i; Mg; tc.) ET2 S	Mn; ECT P	Mo; Ni	; Pd;	P; Pt; Sa	K; Se imple A Sai S	Rece Rece Il San mples ample	Ag; Na Pipt Ad Inples All Doc Rece es Rec	a; Sr; dvice Recei cumei lived i ceivec	S; TI; T (Lab L ved in ntation vith an I Within	h; Sn; Ise Oni Gaod (In Prop Attem; Haldii	Ti; W Dondii Der Or Dr to C ng Tin	tio rde Dh.
Relinquish	red by:		Dat	e/ I me:					1										A	verag	je sam	nple te	emp o	n rece	eipt: (°	C)	2	1.5	
Kecel	/ea by:		Dat	e/ ime:					il.										F	or er	nquire	s ple	ase q	uote I	Ref. N	lo	EOC	162	2



EAL Consulting Service Southern Cross University Military Road EAST LISMORE 2480 NSW T: (61-2) 6620 3678 W: www.scu.edu.au/eal





WATER ANALYSIS RESULT CERTIFICATES

RESULTS OF WATER ANALYSIS

18 samples collected by EAL for Professional Fishes Association on the 23rd December, 2009/14th January, 2010 - Lab. Job No. A6740/A6893 Analysis requested by John Harrison - EAL 02737

PARAMETER	METHODS REFERENCE	Water Quality Indicator	Sample 1 SW1	Sample 2 SW2	Sample 3 SW3	Sample 4 SW4	Sample 5 SW5	Sample 6 SW6	Sample 7 SW7	Sample 8 SW8	Sample 9 SW9	Sample 10 SW10	Sample 11 SW11	Sample 12 SW12	Sample 13 SW13	Sample 14 SW14	Sample 15 SW15	Sample 16 SW16	Sample 1 SP17	Sample 2 SP18
	Jab No.		A6740/1	A6740/2	A6740/3	A6740/4	A6740/5	A6740/6	A6740/7	A6740/8	A6740/9	A6740/10	A6740/11	A6740/12	A6740/13	A6740/14	A6740/15	A6740/16	A6893/1	A6893/2
рН	APHA 4500-H*-B	6 - 9	7.08	7.59	7.85	7.98	8.02	8.02	8.01	7.89	7.91	7.97	7.03	7.16	6.98	7.00	7.31	7.87	7.07	6.87
CONDUCTIVITY (EC) (dS/m)	APHA 2510-B		38.90	42.70	43.90	44.50	44.00	35.90	30.70	23.10	17.00	14.34	4.17	1.16	3.69	3.76	0.79	47.20	0.12	1.06
TOTAL DISSOLVED SALTS (mg/L)	calculation using EC x 680		26,452	29,036	29,852	30,260	29,920	24,412	20,876	15,708	11,560	9,751	2,836	788	2,509	2,557	537	32,096	82	718
TOTAL SUSPENDED SOLIDS (mg/L)	GFC equiv. filter - APHA 2540-D	< 75	34	163	1,308	126	27	118	11	11	7	8	4	9	5	7	10	5	<2	5
BICARBONATE (mg/L CaCO, equivalent)	** Total Alkalinity - APHA 2320		100	50	200	200	200	400	150	50	200	150	90	55	30	50	115	200	26	35
WATER HARDNESS (mg/L CaCO ₃ equivalent)	** using Ca&Mg calculation	150 - 400	4800	5056	5102	5201	5116	4186	3528	2654	1925	1557	431	142	355	383	98	5222	23	106
BIOCHEMICAL OXYGEN DEMAND ₅ (mg/L O ₂)	APHA 5210-B	< 10	<2.0	2.0	5.1	2.6	<2.0	<2.0	<2.0	<2.0	<2.0	<2.0	<2.0	<2.0	<2.0	<2.0	<2.0	<2.0	<2.0	<2.0
TOTAL PHOSPHORUS (mg/L P)	APHA 4500 P-H	< 0.03	0.077	0.138	0.415	0.087	0.031	0.135	0.024	0.036	0.021	0.021	0.042	0.088	0.027	0.036	0.038	0.024	0.040	0.050
ORTHOPHOSPHATE (mg/L P)	APHA 4500 P-G	< 0.05	0.015	0.005	< 0.005	0.005	0.010	0.009	0.010	< 0.005	< 0.005	< 0.005	< 0.005	0.007	< 0.005	< 0.005	< 0.005	< 0.005	0.012	0.006
TOTAL NITROGEN (mg/L N)	APHA 4500 N-C	<0.3	1.11	1.26	3.10	0.80	0.45	0.85	0.52	0.54	0.40	0.40	0.66	0.90	0.44	0.51	0.48	0.42	0.79	0.65
TOTAL KJELDAHL NITROGEN (mg/L N)	CALCULATION: TN - NOx		0.93	1.21	3.10	0.80	0.44	0.79	0.35	0.49	0.37	0.39	0.61	0.83	0.40	0.46	0.47	0.41	0.69	0.64
NITRATE (mg/L N)	APHA 4500 NO3-F	< 100	0.168	0.051	< 0.005	< 0.005	0.012	0.058	0.164	0.048	0.037	0.010	0.040	0.061	0.037	0.044	0.007	0.006	0.097	0.013
NITRITE (mg/L N)	APHA 4500 NO2 -C	< 0.1	0.011	< 0.005	< 0.005	< 0.005	< 0.005	<0.005	0.005	< 0.005	< 0.005	< 0.005	0.006	0.011	< 0.005	< 0.005	< 0.005	< 0.005	< 0.005	< 0.005
AMMONIA (mg/L N)	APHA 4500 NH ₃ -H	< 0.4	0.216	0.029	0.005	0.006	0.017	0.018	0.035	0.019	0.027	0.008	0.090	0.170	0.039	0.068	0.006	0.026	0.039	0.005
	Just 2		7.004	7 004	7.040		7.004	0.050			0.007	0 500				500			10	105
SODIUM (mg/L)	** APHA 3120 ICPOES		7,281	275	276	280	270	0,253	5,310	4,100	3,087	2,530	2002	206	22	24	140	7,844	13	0
POTASSION (mg/c)	** ADMA 3120 ICPOES		200	275	270	200	2/3	202	199	102	109	112	20	10	20	24	10	290	4	10
CALCIUM (mg/L)	** ADHA 3120 ICPOES ^{1008 2}		946	1 000	1.009	1 030	1 012	832	703	528	385	310	84	27	29	75	18	1 034	3	20
SODIUM ABSORPTION RATIO	BY CALCULATION		45.7	46.6	46.3	46.7	46.4	42.0	38.9	35.2	30.6	27.9	13.9	7.5	12.5	12.6	6.1	47.2	1.2	7.0
CHLORIDE (mg/L)	** APHA 4500-CI		13,677	14,519	14,610	14,966	14,843	11,891	9,922	7,313	5,122	4,143	1,219	343	980	1,039	219	15,164	19	287
SULFATE (mg/L SO ₄ ²)	** APHA 3120 ICPOES ^{'note 2}		2,268	2,402	2,410	2,490	2,464	2,036	1,746	1,332	1,104	925	205	80	170	181	55	2,496	4	37
CHLORIDE/ SULFATE RATIO	Calculation	> 4	6.0	6.0	6.1	6.0	6.0	5.8	5.7	5.5	4.6	4.5	5.9	4.3	5.8	5.7	4.0	6.1	4.3	7.8
SILVED (mail)	IT ADUA 2120 (CDMC ^{1006 182}	< 0.003	0.001	<0.001	-0.001	<0.001	~0.001	~0.001	-0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	~0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001
ALUMINIUM (mg/L)	** APHA 3120 ICPMS/DES ^{'note 182}	< 0.01	0.105	0.051	0.044	0.032	0.034	0.032	0.033	0.040	0.030	0.035	0.082	0.093	0.080	0.089	0.102	0.159	0.198	0.412
ARSENIC (mg/L)	C Corrected ** APHA 3120 ICPMS "note 1	< 0.05	<0.001	0.005	0.006	0.005	0.013	0.004	0.003	0.001	0.003	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.008	0.001	0.002
CADMIUM (mg/L)	** APHA 3120 ICPMS'1010 182	< 0.15	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001
CHROMIUM (mg/L)	** APHA 3120 ICPMS note 142	< 0.02	0.004	0.004	0.004	0.004	0.005	0.004	0.004	0.004	0.003	0.003	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.006	0.001	0.001
COPPER (mg/L)	C Corrected ** APHA 3120 ICPMS 'note 1	< 0.005	0.030	0.018	0.000	0.011	0.010	0.002	0.007	0.007	0.007	0.003	0.006	0.007	0.004	0.003	0.003	0.002	0.007	0.006
	invite 18.2	.0.04	0.004	0.040	0.007	0.000	0.007	0.000	0.004	0.040	0.000	0.040	0.050	4 004	0.500	0.000	0.400	0.470	0.040	0.004
IRON (mg/L)	** APHA 3120 ICPMS/DES **** 182	< 0.01	0.034	0.013	0.007	0.003	0.007	0.003	0.004	0.019	0.008	0.012	0.056	0.244	2.509	0.396	0.100	0.172	0.240	0.904
MANGANESE (mg/L)	Corrected # ADMA 2120 ICDMP 1000 1	< 0.01	<0.045	0.007	0.003	0.013	0.025	0.005	0.035	0.003	0.033	0.018	0.151	0.002	0.073	0.072	0.010	0.039	0.003	0.043
I FAD (mg/L)	** APHA 3120 ICPMS ^{**000162}	< 0.007	0.002	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	0.001	<0.001	< 0.001
ZING (mg/l)	Corrected ** APHA 3120 ICPMS 'note 1	< 0.05	0.054	0.046	0.007	0.075	0.028	0.050	0.025	0.027	0.022	0.014	0.008	0.008	0.004	0.003	0.001	< 0.001	0.026	0.017
MERCURY (mg/L)	** APHA 3120 ICPMS ^{'note 182}	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001
	Instantial Control of																			
TIN (mg/L)	** APHA 3120 ICPMS INT IN		<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	0.001	0.002	<0.001	<0.001	0.001	<0.001	0.001	0.004
PESTICIDE ANALYSIS SCREEN																				
4, 4 DDT (μg/L)	subcontracted: results attached 5	< 0.01		< 0.05	<0.05		<0.05			<0.05	<0.05									
Methoxychlor (µg/L)	subcontracted: results attached 5			<0.05	<0.05		<0.05			<0.05	<0.05									
Other Organochlorine Pesticides (µg/L)	subcontracted: results attached 5			<0.01	<0.01		<0.01			<0.01	<0.01									
Demeton (total) (ug/l.)	subcontracted: results attached 5		1	-0.2	-0.2		<0.2			-0.2	<0.2									
Other Organophosphate Pesticides (ug/L)	subcontracted: results attached 5			<0.2	<0.2		<0.2			<0.2	<0.2									
(-g-,												-								
Polychlorinated Biphenyls (PCB's) (µg/L)	subcontracted: results attached ⁵	< 2		<0.5	<0.5		<0.5			<0.5	<0.5									

Notes:

1a. Total Available metals - samples acidified with nitric acid and then filtered through 0.45µm cellulose acetate

2. Metals/ salts analysed by ICP-MS (Inductively Coupled Plasma - Mass Spectrometry) or ICP-OES (Inductively Coupled Plasma - Optical Emission Spectrometry)

3. 1 mg/L (milligram per litre) = 1 ppm (part per million) = 1000 µg/L (micrograms per litre)= 1000 ppb (part per billion)

4. For conductivity - 1 dS/m = 1 mS/cm = 1000 µS/cm

5. In Pesticide Analysis Screening, no other pesticides occurred above reportable levels in the attached list

6. For Bacteria - cfu= colony forming unit

7. Analysis performed according to APHA, 2005, "Standard Methods for the Examination of Water & Wastewater", 21st Edition, except where stated otherwise.

8. Analysis conducted between sample arrival date and Report provision date

9. "denotes these test procedures are as yet not NATA according but quality control data is available to ... Demotes not require RL Consulting Service



Southern Cross University Military Road EAST LISMORE 2480 NSW T: (61-2) 6620 3678 W: www.scu.edu.au/eal



* Southern Cross UNIVERSITY A new way to think



Gil ab Marker	Labor	atory Repor	t No:	E046299			Pag	e: 3 of 9		Final	
	Client	Name:	I	Environmenta	al Analysis I	aboratory	plus	cover page		Cer	tificate
ENVIRONMENTAL LABORATORIES	Conta	ct Name:	J	Environmenta	al Analysis I	aboratory	Dat	e: 13/01/10		of An	alysis
	Client	Reference:	:	Soil and Wate	er Analysis	2	This 1	report supercedes	reports issued of	n: N/A	
Laboratory Identification		244180	244181	244182	244183	244184	244182d	244182r	244183s	lcs	mb
Sample Identification		A6740/2	A6740/3	A6740/5	A6740/8	A6740/9	QC	QC	QC	QC	QC
Depth (m)											
Sampling Date recorded on COC		22/12/09	22/12/09	22/12/09	22/12/09	22/12/09					
Laboratory Extraction (Preparation) Date		31/12/09	31/12/09	31/12/09	31/12/09	31/12/09	31/12/09		31/12/09	31/12/09	31/12/09
Laboratory Analysis Date		8/1/10	8/1/10	8/1/10	8/1/10	8/1/10	8/1/10		8/1/10	8/1/10	8/1/10
Method : E013.1	FOL										
BHC		<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01		100%	114%	<0.01
Hexachlorobenzene	0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01		100%	114%	<0.01
g-BHC (Lindane)	0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01		101%	114%	<0.01
b-BHC	0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01		101%	100%	<0.01
d-BHC	0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01		98%	110%	< 0.01
Heptachlor	0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01		122%	115%	< 0.01
Aldrin	0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01		101%	113%	< 0.01
Heptachlor epoxide	0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01		102%	112%	< 0.01
trans-chlordane	0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01		101%	114%	< 0.01
Endosulfan I	0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01		102%	113%	< 0.01
cis-chlordane	0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01		101%	113%	< 0.01
Dieldrin	0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01		101%	118%	< 0.01
4,4-DDE	0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01		100%	116%	< 0.01
Endrin	0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01		104%	113%	< 0.01
Endosulfan II	0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01		122%	115%	< 0.01
4,4-DDD	0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01		99%	107%	< 0.01
Endosulfan sulphate	0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01		95%	117%	< 0.01
4,4-DDT	0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05		103%	88%	< 0.05
Methoxychlor	0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05		107%	76%	< 0.05
DBC (Surr @ 0.1ug/l)		117%	72%	121%	73%	78%	128%	6%	107%	129%	89%

Results expressed in ug/l unless otherwise specified

Comments:

E013.1: Triple extraction with hexane. Analysis by GC/dual ECD.









6) LabMark	Labora	atory Repor	t No:	E046299			Page	e: 4 of 9		Final	
SEGENTICIT	Client	Name:		Environmenta	ıl Analysis I	aboratory	plus	cover page		Cer	tificate
ENVIRONMENTAL LABORATORIES	Conta	et Name:		Environmenta	ıl Analysis I	aboratory	Date	e: 13/01/10		of Ana	ilysis
	Client	Reference:		Soil and Wate	er Analysis		This r	eport supercedes	reports issued or	n: N/A	
Laboratory Identification		244180	244181	244182	244183	244184	244180d	244180r	244181s	lcs	mb
Sample Identification		A6740/2	A6740/3	A6740/5	A6740/8	A6740/9	QC	QC	QC	QC	QC
Depth (m)											
Sampling Date recorded on COC		22/12/09	22/12/09	22/12/09	22/12/09	22/12/09					
Laboratory Extraction (Preparation) Date		31/12/09	31/12/09	31/12/09	31/12/09	31/12/09	31/12/09		31/12/09	31/12/09	31/12/09
Laboratory Analysis Date		12/1/10	12/1/10	12/1/10	12/1/10	13/1/10	12/1/10		12/1/10	12/1/10	12/1/10
Method : E014.3 Organophosphorus Pesticides (OP)	EQL										
Demeton (total)	0.2	<0.2	< 0.2	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2		90%	79%	<0.2
Ethoprop	0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1		74%	79%	<0.1
Phorate	0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1		81%	71%	<0.1
Dimethoate	0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1		95%	88%	<0.1
Diazinon	0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1		9/%	/4%	<0.1
Disultoton	0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1		84%	88%	<0.1
D and a large state of the stat	0.1	<0.1	<0.1	< 0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1		88%	/8%	<0.1
Konnel	0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1		80%	75%	<0.1
Malathian	0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1		0194	73%	<0.1
Fanthion	0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1		7694	250/	<0.1
Chlorpyrifes	0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1		88%	76%	<0.1
Parathion	0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1		78%	72%	<0.1
Prothiofos	0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1		82%	82%	<0.1
Azinophos methyl	0.5	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1		116%	71%	0.9
Coumaphos	0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5		125%	81%	0.9
TPP (Surr @ 10ug/l)		99%	88%	99%	93%	79%	79%	22%	89%	108%	99%

Results expressed in ug/l unless otherwise specified

Comments:

E014.3: Triple extraction with DCM and concentrated. Analysis by GC/MSD.

Labbark Pty Ltd ABN 27 079 798 397 SYDNEY: Unit 1, 8 Leighton Place Asquith NSW 2077 Telephone: (02) 9476 6533 Fax: (03) 9686 8344 Fax: (03) 9686 7344 Fax: (03) 9686 734 Fax: (03) 9686 734 Fax: (03) 9686 734 Fax: (03) 9686 Fax



Southern Cross UNIVERSITY A new way to think



GLabMark	Labor	atory Repor	rt No:	E046299			Pag	e: 8 of 9		Final	
	Client	Name:		Environmenta	al Analysis I	.aboratory	plus	cover page		Cer	tificate
ENVIRONMENTAL LABORATORIES	Conta	ct Name:		Environmenta	al Analysis I	aboratory	Dat	e: 13/01/10		of Ana	alysis
	Client	Reference:		Soil and Wate	er Analysis		This r	eport supercedes	reports issued of	n: N/A	
Laboratory Identification		244180	244181	244182	244183	244184	244182d	244182r	244183s	lcs	mb
Sample Identification		A6740/2	A6740/3	A6740/5	A6740/8	A6740/9	QC	QC	QC	QC	QC
Depth (m)											
Sampling Date recorded on COC		22/12/09	22/12/09	22/12/09	22/12/09	22/12/09					
Laboratory Extraction (Preparation) Date		31/12/09	31/12/09	31/12/09	31/12/09	31/12/09	31/12/09		31/12/09	31/12/09	31/12/09
Laboratory Analysis Date	_	8/1/10	8/1/10	8/1/10	8/1/10	8/1/10	8/1/10		8/1/10	8/1/10	8/1/10
Method : E013.1 Polychlorinated Biphenyls (PCB) Arochlor 1016 Arochlor 1232 Arochlor 1242 Arochlor 1248 Arochlor 1254 Arochlor 1254 Sum of reported PCBs DBC (form @ //brg/)	EQL 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 	<0.5 <0.5 <0.5 <0.5 <0.5 <0.5 <0.5	<0.5 <0.5 <0.5 <0.5 <0.5 <0.5 	<0.5 <0.5 <0.5 <0.5 <0.5 <0.5 <0.5	<0.5 <0.5 <0.5 <0.5 <0.5 <0.5 <0.5	<0.5 <0.5 <0.5 <0.5 <0.5 <0.5 <0.5 	<0.5 <0.5 <0.5 <0.5 <0.5 <0.5 <0.5	 69/	 83% 	 102% 77%	<0.5 <0.5 <0.5 <0.5 <0.5 <0.5 <0.5
DBC (Surr @ 10ug/l)		117%	/2%	121%	/55%	/8%	128%	0%	113%	//%	89%

Results expressed in ug/l unless otherwise specified

Comments:

E013.1: Triple extraction with hexane. Analysis by GC/dual ECD.

LabMark Pty Ltd ABN 27 079 798 397 SYDNEY: Unit 1, 8 Leighton Place Asquith NSW 2077 Telephone: (02) 9476 6533 Fax: (02) 9476 8219 MELBOURNE: 116 Moray Street, South Melbourne VIC 3205 Telephone: (03) 9686 8344 Fax: (03) 9686 7344 Form Q80145, Rev. 0: Dute Issued 100305







Company: ENVIRONMENTAL ANALYSIS LAB Address: SC.U MILITARY RD EAST LISMORE NSM 24800 Contact: GRAMA M LANCASTER Bend Results to: Telephone: C2 G6203678 Fax: Results Required by: 24 hrs = 5 Day = Outor Reference: Telephone: C2 C4	Company: ENVIRONMENTAL ANALYSIS LAB Project Name:	Number [#] :
Address: SCUMILLIARYKD	Address: SCU - MILTIARY RD Project Number: @uote Reference: Purchase Or Contact: GRAMAM LANCASTER Bend Results to:	ber will act as a purchase order number if not
Contact: CIRSINGLE INSINGLE Oute Reference: Purchase Order No: Telephone: 02 66 2036 78 Fax:	Contact: Cit An An AncAster Survey	
Send Results to:	Telephone: O2 O6 O3 Fax: Results to: Results to: (email Email: CO1 SAMPLE DESCRIPTION Results Required by: 24 hrs 48 hrs 5 Day Other SAMPLE DESCRIPTION Note: TAT of less than 5 days must be pre-arranged with the laboratory *Note: TAT of less than 5 days if the laboratory Lab ID Sample ID Date & Time Soil / Water Comments# 90 00 01 + 44 Hrs 60 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 0	rder No:
Email: Col () Scul - Cut - Cu	Result Reduired by: 24 hts 48 hts5 Day0 Other	ail)
SAMPLE DESCRIPTION ANALYSIS REQUIRED Lab ID Sample ID Date & Time Sample ID Soil / Water Other BS 00 0 - Comments [#] BS 00 0 - H + H + H + H + H + H + H + H + H + H +	SAMPLE DESCRIPTION ANALYSIS REQUIRED Lab ID Sample ID Date & Time Soil / Water Bit of the colspan="2">Bit of the colspan="2">ANALYSIS REQUIRED Lab ID Sample ID Date & Time Soil / Water Bit of the colspan="2">Bit of the colspan="2">ANALYSIS REQUIRED Lab ID Sample ID Date & Time Soil / Water Bit of the colspan="2">Bit of the colspan="2">ANALYSIS REQUIRED July 175 A6073/J2 22/12/09 SED/I Bit of the colspan="2">ANALYSIS REQUIRED July 175 A6073/J2 22/12/09 SED/I Bit of the colspan="2">ANALYSIS REQUIRED July 176 A6073/J2 22/12/09 SED/I AIT AIT AIT AIT July 176 A6073/J9 22/12/09 SED/I AIT AIT LOW LEVELS July 176 A6740/2 X X AIT LOW LEVELS July 176 A6750/I 22/12/09 Mit of table AIT LOW LEVELS July 176 A6760/J9 Z2/12/09 Mit of table X X	
Juniper Le Description ANALYSIS REQUIRED Lab ID Sample ID Date & Time Soil / Water Good Stress Soil / <	SAMPLE DESCRIPTION ANALYSIS REQUIRED Lab ID Sample ID Date & Time Soil / Water Image: Some of the register of	and surcharges may apply.
Lab ID Sample ID Date & Time (Sampled) Soil / Water Other Comments" 990-91 -14L H	Lab ID Sample ID Soil / Sampled Soil / Water Other Big Output Comments [#] Big Output Status Big Output Status Big Output Status<	
	# Please Provide Field PID Readings where possible Totals: ** METALS (Please circle): Al; Sb; As; Ba; Be; Bi; B; Cd; Ca; Cs; Cr; Co; Cu; Fe; Pb; Li; Mg; Mn; Mo; Ni; Pd; P; Pt; K; Se; Si;	. PLS .
	 A Obside of Obside day 	; Ag; Na; Sr; S; Tl; Th; Sn; Ti; W;
** METALS (Please circle): Al; Sb; As; Ba; Be; Bi; B; Cd; Ca; Cs; Cr, Co; Cu; Fe; Pb; Li; Mg; Mn; Mo; Ni; Pd; P; Pt; K; Se; Si; Ag; Na; Sr; S; Tl; Th; Sn; Ti; W; L	Special Requirements (eg. OHS issues etc.) Sample Red	ceipt Advice (Lab Use Only)
METALS (Please circle): Al; Sb; As; Ba; Be; Bi; B; Cd; Ca; Cs; Cr, Co; Cu; Fe; Pb; Li; Mg; Mn; Mo; Ni; Pd; P; Pt; K; Se; Si; Ag; Na; Sr; S; Tl; Th; Sn; Ti; W; U Chain of Custody Special Requirements (eg. OHS issues etc.) Sample Receipt Advice (Lab Use Only)	Relinquished by: AND Date/Time: 23/2/09 RO/394 A6/40/ LOW DETECTION All Se	amples Received in Good Conditi
** METALS (Please circle): Al; Sb; As; Ba; Be; Bi; B; Cd; Ca; Cs; Cr, Co; Cu; Fe; Pb; Li; Mg; Mn; Mo; Ni; Pd; P; Pt; K; Se; Si; Ag; Na; Sr; S; Tl; Th; Sn; Ti; W; U ** METALS (Please circle): Al; Sb; As; Ba; Be; Bi; B; Cd; Ca; Cs; Cr, Co; Cu; Fe; Pb; Li; Mg; Mn; Mo; Ni; Pd; P; Pt; K; Se; Si; Ag; Na; Sr; S; Tl; Th; Sn; Ti; W; U ** METALS (Please circle): Al; Sb; As; Ba; Be; Bi; B; Cd; Ca; Cs; Cr, Co; Cu; Fe; Pb; Li; Mg; Mn; Mo; Ni; Pd; P; Pt; K; Se; Si; Ag; Na; Sr; S; Tl; Th; Sn; Ti; W; U ** METALS (Please circle): Al; Sb; As; Ba; Be; Bi; B; Cd; Ca; Cs; Cr, Co; Cu; Fe; Pb; Li; Mg; Mn; Mo; Ni; Pd; P; Pt; K; Se; Si; Ag; Na; Sr; S; Tl; Th; Sn; Ti; W; U ** METALS (Please circle): Al; Sb; As; Ba; Be; Bi; B; Cd; Ca; Cs; Cr, Co; Cu; Fe; Pb; Li; Mg; Mn; Mo; Ni; Pd; P; Pt; K; Se; Si; Ag; Na; Sr; S; Tl; Th; Sn; Ti; W; U ** METALS (Please circle): Al; Sb; As; Ba; Be; Bi; B; Cd; Ca; Cs; Cr, Co; Cu; Fe; Pb; Li; Mg; Mn; Mo; Ni; Pd; P; Pt; K; Se; Si; Ag; Na; Sr; S; Tl; Th; Sn; Ti; W; U ** Metal: Of Custody Special Requirements (eg. OHS issues etc.) Sample Receipt Advice (Lab Use Only) Relinquished by: Date/Time: 23/12/09 A6739 + A6740//UOW OETECTION All Samples Received in Good Condition	Received by: Date/Time: <u>14/12/09 @ 1234</u> WNELS PIS	All Documentation in Proper Ord
** METALS (Please circle): Al; Sb; As; Ba; Be; Bi; B; Cd; Ca; Cs; Cr, Co; Cu; Fe; Pb; Li; Mg; Mn; Mo; Ni; Pd; P; Pt; K; Se; Si; Ag; Na; Sr; S; Ti; Th; Sn; Ti; W; L ** METALS (Please circle): Al; Sb; As; Ba; Be; Bi; B; Cd; Ca; Cs; Cr, Co; Cu; Fe; Pb; Li; Mg; Mn; Mo; Ni; Pd; P; Pt; K; Se; Si; Ag; Na; Sr; Si; Ti; Th; Sn; Ti; W; L ** METALS (Please circle): Al; Sb; As; Ba; Be; Bi; B; Cd; Ca; Cs; Cr, Co; Cu; Fe; Pb; Li; Mg; Mn; Mo; Ni; Pd; P; Pt; K; Se; Si; Ag; Na; Sr; Ti; Th; Sn; Ti; W; L ** METALS (Please circle): Al; Sb; As; Ba; Be; Bi; B; Cd; Ca; Cs; Cr, Co; Cu; Fe; Pb; Li; Mg; Mn; Mo; Ni; Pd; P; Pt; K; Se; Si; Ag; Na; Sr; Si; Ti; Th; Sn; Ti; W; L ** METALS (Please circle): Al; Sb; As; Ba; Be; Bi; B; Cd; Ca; Cs; Cr, Co; Cu; Fe; Pb; Li; Mg; Mn; Mo; Ni; Pd; P; Pt; K; Se; Si; Ag; Na; Sr; Ti; Th; Sn; Ti; W; L ** METALS (Please circle): Al; Sb; As; Ba; Be; Bi; B; Cd; Ca; Cs; Cr, Co; Cu; Fe; Pb; Li; Mg; Mn; Mo; Ni; Pd; P; Pt; K; Se; Si; Ag; Na; Sr; Ti; Th; Sn; Ti; W; L ** Metals (Please circle): Al; Sb; Ag; Da; Special Requirements (eg. OHS issues etc.) Sample Receipt Advice (Lab Use Only) Received by: Date/Time: 24//2/09 @ A6739 + A6740/ LOW OETECTION All Samples Received in Good Condition Metals (Date: Time: 24//2/09 @ Date: Time: 24//2/09 @ Log (Date: Time) All Documentation in Proper Orde	Relinquished by: Date/Time: Sample	as Received with an Attempt to Cl
** METALS (Please circle): Al; Sb; As; Ba; Be; Bi; B; Cd; Ca; Cs; Cr, Co; Cu; Fe; Pb; Li; Mg; Mn; Mo; Ni; Pd; P; Pt; K; Se; Si; Ag; Na; Sr; S; Tl; Th; Sn; Tl; V ** METALS (Please circle): Al; Sb; As; Ba; Be; Bi; B; Cd; Ca; Cs; Cr, Co; Cu; Fe; Pb; Li; Mg; Mn; Mo; Ni; Pd; P; Pt; K; Se; Si; Ag; Na; Sr; S; Tl; Th; Sn; Tl; V ** METALS (Please circle): Al; Sb; As; Ba; Be; Bi; B; Cd; Ca; Cs; Cr, Co; Cu; Fe; Pb; Li; Mg; Mn; Mo; Ni; Pd; P; Pt; K; Se; Si; Ag; Na; Sr; S1; Th; Sn; Tl; V ** METALS (Please circle): Al; Sb; As; Ba; Be; Bi; B; Cd; Ca; Cs; Cr, Co; Cu; Fe; Pb; Li; Mg; Mn; Mo; Ni; Pd; P; Pt; K; Se; Si; Ag; Na; Sr; S1; Th; Sn; Tl; V ** Ochain of Custody Special Requirements (eg. OHS issues etc.) Sample Receipt Advice (Lab Use Only) Relinquished by: Date/Time: 23/12/09 A 66739 + A66740/ LOW OETECTION All Samples Received in Good Conc Received by: Date/Time: 24/12/09 @ 1254 UNELS Pls All Documentation in Proper CO	Relinquished by: Date/Time: Sample Received by: Date/Time: Sample	es Received with an Attempt to
** METALS (Please circle): Al; Sb: As; Ba; Ba; Bi; B; Cd; Ca; Cs; Cr; Co; Cu; Fe; Pb; Li; Mg; Mn; Mo; Ni; Pd; P; Pt; K; Se; Si; Ag; Na; Sr; S; Tl; Th; Sn; Ti; W; ** METALS (Please circle): Al; Sb: As; Ba; Ba; Bi; B; Cd; Ca; Cs; Cr; Co; Cu; Fe; Pb; Li; Mg; Mn; Mo; Ni; Pd; P; Pt; K; Se; Si; Ag; Na; Sr; S; Tl; Th; Sn; Ti; W; ** METALS (Please circle): Al; Sb: As; Ba; Ba; Bi; B; Cd; Ca; Cs; Cr; Co; Cu; Fe; Pb; Li; Mg; Mn; Mo; Ni; Pd; P; Pt; K; Se; Si; Ag; Na; Sr; S; Tl; Th; Sn; Ti; W; ** METALS (Please circle): Al; Sb: As; Ba; Ba; Bi; B; Cd; Ca; Cs; Cr; Co; Cu; Fe; Pb; Li; Mg; Mn; Mo; Ni; Pd; P; Pt; K; Se; Si; Ag; Na; Sr; S; Tl; Th; Sn; Ti; W; ** METALS (Please circle): Al; Sb: As; Ba; Ba; Bi; B; Cd; Ca; Cs; Cr; Co; Cu; Fe; Pb; Li; Mg; Mn; Mo; Ni; Pd; P; Pt; K; Se; Si; Ag; Na; Sr; S; Tl; Th; Sn; Tl; W; ** METALS (Please circle): Al; Sb: As; Ba; Be; Bi; B; Cd; Ca; Cs; Cr; Co; Cu; Fe; Pb; Li; Mg; Mn; Mo; Ni; Pd; P; Pt; K; Se; Si; Ag; Na; Sr; S; Tl; Th; Sn; Tl; W; ** METALS (Please circle): Al; Sb: As; Ba; Be; Bi; B; Cd; Ca; Cs; Cr; Co; Cu; Fe; Pb; Li; Mg; Mn; Mo; Ni; Pd; P; Pt; K; Se; Si; Ag; Na; Sr; S; Tl; Th; Sn; Tl; W; Relinquished by: Date/Time: 23/12/09 (@ 1254 Motor Not Detaction on Proper Ore Relinquished by: Date/Time: Date/Time: 24/12/09 (@ 1254 Motor Not Detaction on Proper Ore Received by: Date/Time: Date/Time: Date/Time: Samples Received with an Attempt to C Received by: Date/Time: Date/Time: Samples Received with an Attempt to C	Relinnuished by Date/Time	ses Received within Holding Tim





RESULTS OF SEAFOOD ANALYSIS (Page 1 of 1) 11 soil samples supplied by Professional Fishes Association on 6th January, 2010 - Lab Job No. A6780

Analysis requested by John Harrison. Your Job.: Q# 2737. Clarence River-Fish/Prawn

ANALYTE	METHOD REFERENCE	Sample 1 B1 (1/2)	Sample 2 B2 (1/2)	Sample 3 M1 (1/2)	Sample 4 W1 (1/2)	Sample 5 W2 (1/2)	Sample 6 P1 (1/2)	Sample 7 P2 (1/2)	Sample 8 P3 (1/2)
	Job No.	A6780/1	A6780/2	A6780/3	A6780/4	A6780/5	A6780/6	A6780/7	A6780/8
SILVER (mg/Kg DW) ARSENIC (mg/Kg DW) LEAD (mg/Kg DW) CADMIUM (mg/Kg DW) CHROMIUM (mg/Kg DW) COPPER (mg/Kg DW)	a a a a a	0.0 0.7 0.8 0.0 1.4 3.0	0.0 0.4 0.3 0.0 0.8 1.1	0.0 0.9 0.3 0.0 1.2 2.0	0.0 1.2 0.1 0.0 0.6 0.5	0.0 0.6 0.0 0.0 0.6 0.4	0.1 0.9 0.1 0.0 0.6 16.6	0.0 0.6 0.0 0.0 0.4 7.8	0.1 0.6 0.0 0.0 0.5 11.4
MANGANESE (mg/Kg DW) NICKEL (mg/Kg DW) SELENIUM (mg/Kg DW) ZINC (mg/Kg DW) MERCURY (mg/Kg DW)	a a a a a	8.3 1.1 0.4 18.2 0.26	65.7 0.6 0.2 10.5 0.14	17.4 0.8 0.6 9.7 0.03	3.9 0.4 0.4 14.5 0.05	5.7 0.5 0.4 15.7 0.06	7.5 0.8 0.7 16.8 0.02	3.5 0.4 0.4 11.6 0.03	15.2 0.8 0.6 14.1 0.02
IRON (% DW) ALUMINIUM (% DW)	a a	0.026 0.004	0.024 0.008	0.048 0.015	0.007 0.001	0.005 <0.001	0.018 0.002	0.008 0.001	0.009 0.002
TIN (mg/Kg)	а	11.3	6.4	7.4	2.6	1.6	8.0	2.6	1.2
PESTICIDE ANALYSIS SCREEN Other Organochlorine Pesticides (mg/Kg) Other Organophosphate Pesticides (mg/Kg) PCB's (mg/Kg)	с с с	<0.01 <0.1 <0.1	<0.01 <0.1 <0.1	<0.01 <0.1 <0.1	<0.01 <0.1 <0.1	<0.01 <0.1 <0.1	<0.01 <0.1 <0.1	<0.01 <0.1 <0.1	<0.01 <0.1 <0.1

METHODS REFERENCE

a. ^{1:3}Nitric/HCI digest - APHA 3120 ICPMS

b. ^{1:3}Nitric/HCI digest - APHA 3120 ICPOES

c. Analysis sub-contracted - results attached

NOTES

1. Column 1 ' Residential with gardens and accessible soil including childrens daycare centres, preschools, primary schools, town houses or villas' (NSW EPA 1998)

2. Environmental Soil Quality Guidelines, Page 40, ANZECC, 1992.

Additional NOTES DW - Dry Woight

Dw = Dry weight	
Organochlorine pesticide (OC's) screen:	(Aldrin, Cis-chlordane, Trans-chlordane, HCB, DDD, DDE, DDT, Alpha-BHC, Beta-BHC, Delta-BHC, Lindane, Dieldrin, Endrin, Heptachlor, Heptachor epoxide, Alpha-endosulfan, Beta-endosulfan, Endosulfan sulfate, Methoxychlor)
Organophosphorus pesticide (OP's) screen:	(Dichlorvos, Phosdrin, Demeton (total), Ethoprop, Monocrotophos, Phorate, Dimethoate, Diazinon, Disulfoton, Methyl parathion, Chloropyrifos, Ronnel, Parathion, Stirofos, Prothiofos, Azinophos methyl, Coumaphos, Fenitrothion, Fenthion, Malathion)
PCB's = Polychloriniated Biphenyls	(Arochlor 1016, 1232, 1242, 1248, 1254, 1260)

na = no guidelines available



EAL Consulting Service Southern Cross University Military Road EAST LISMORE 2480 NSW T: (61-2) 6620 3678 W: www.scu.edu.au/eal

1 * Southern Cross UNIVERSITY A new way to think



Industry & Investment NSW Diagnostic and Analytical Services Environmental Laboratory, WOLLONGBAR NSW 2477 Phone 02 6626 1103, Fax 02 6626 1276

Report Number: WN10/0055/E

Owner ENVIRONMENTAL ANALYSIS LABORATORY PO BOX 157 LISMORE 2480 ' Submitted: 18.1.10 Received: 18.1.10

Samples received: 11 x sample

The samples have been assigned the following laboratory numbers. Lab No 0157-0167

Pesticide Analysis

Method	Number	Date of Analysis
Fish pesticide screen	2125	1/2/2010

Laboratory No		Limit of	157	158	159	160
Sample ID	Unit	reporting	A6780/1	A6780/2	A6780/3	A6780/4
Organochlorines	mg/kg	0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01
Organophosphates	mg/kg	0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
РСВ	mg/kg	0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1

Laboratory No		Limit of	161	162	163	164
Sample ID	Unit	reporting	A6780/5	A6780/6	A6780/7	A6780/8
Organochlorines	mg/kg	0.01	· <0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01
Organophosphates	mg/kg	0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
PCB	mg/kg	0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Laboratory No		Limit of	165	166	167	
Sample ID	Unit	reporting	A6780/9	A6780/10	A6780/11	
Organochlorines	mg/kg	0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	
Organophosphates	mg/kg	0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	
PCB	mg/kg	0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	

Organochlorine analysis screens for the following chemicals - aldrin, cis-chlordane, trans-chlordane, HCB, DDD, DDE, DDT, α -HCH, β -HCH, δ -HCH, lindane, dieldrin, heptachlor, heptachlor epoxide, α -endosulfan, β -endosulfan, endosulfan sulfate

Organophosphate analysis screens for the following chemicals - bromophos ethyl, carbophenothion, chlorfenvinphos, chlorpyrifos, chlorpyrifos methyl, diazinon, dichlorvos, dimethoate, dioxathion, ethion, fenchlorphos, fenitrothion, fenthion, malathion, methacrifos, and pirimiphos methyl.

W CV Р TONY TYLER

TONY TYLER ANALYTICAL CHEMIST 4 FEBRUARY, 2010 RG

FINAL REPORT N DAVISON

.



This document is issued in accordance with NATA's accreditation requirements NATA Accredited Laboratory Number: 14173

11 x 19050 → 50-1

Printed on 4 February, 2010

Page 1 of 2



EAL Consulting Service Southern Cross University Military Road EAST LISMORE 2480 NSW T: (61-2) 6620 3678 W: www.scu.edu.au/eal

* Southern Cross UNIVERSITY A new way to think



.-

-29

 \bigcirc

 \bigcirc

NSW DEPARTMENT OF PRIMARY INDUSTRIES Diagnostic and Analytical Services

Sample Submission

Please Prin	t Submitter Details	Sample Owner Details (if different)
Name	NICE DAVISON	
Company	EAL	
Address	B BOX IFT (MILITARY LO EAST LISNORE ZEND.	AD)
Postcode	2400	
Phone	02 66203678.	
Fax		
Email	nick, devison escu. edu. an	PIC NO N
Notification (if different fro	of Results to:	

			The Samp	ole			
Butter		Effluent	Plant		Animal tissue	Olives	
Milk		Water	Fruit/veg		Serum	Olive oil	
Fat		Leachate	Grain		Urine		
Fish	\boxtimes	Sludge	 Cereal		Essential oil		
Post mortem		Soil	Hay				
Dip fluid		Worm castings	Stock feed		Other (specify)		

 Additional Information

 Container (s) type
 ?
 BAC
 Container Return (at client expense) Yes
 No

 Sample Return
 Yes
 No
 X
 (at client expense)

 Preservatives used
 Yes
 No
 X
 If yes, what kind ?

 Comments:
 F202.000
 .
 .

L	aboratory Use Only
Accessioned by:	Total No Samples:
Lab No (s):	

NOTE: Samples requiring analyses not performed at this laboratory, may be sent to other laboratories within NSW Department of Primary Industries

Sample Submission WALfrm 18/10/05 Page 1 of 2



EAL Consulting Service Southern Cross University Military Road EAST LISMORE 2480 NSW T: (61-2) 6620 3678 W: www.scu.edu.au/eal



47



, *1*9

		1	T		1
Your identificati (eg: Sample name, num	on of this sample ber, collection site etc)	Sample type (Choose from the list of substances on page 1)	Date of Sampling	Type of analysis you require	Lab Nun (lab use d
A6780/1		Fish	6/1/00	0c/28/9CB	
1 11 12					4
5 14					-
- 16		PLANNS			
. 17	Anger,	7			
v 13		4			
. 19		on			
* 110		-		-	
- 111					
				L	
Name: NICE	PANSON	_ Signature:	200	Date 15/1/1	0'
Name: NICL Have you been giv	ven an itemised writ	_ Signature:	s 🗆 No j	→ Date (5/1//	D'
Name: <i>NICE</i> Have you been giv	ven an itemised writ	_ Signature: tten quote ? Yes Send ac	s No	$\frac{2}{2} \qquad \text{Date} \frac{5/1/1}{2}$ $\frac{2}{5EF} \text{Over} \\ \frac{1}{2} \text{Over} \\ \frac{1}{2} $	<i>D'</i>
Name: <i>NICL</i> Have you been giv	ven an itemised writ	_ Signature:/ tten quote ? Yes Send ad	s 🗆 No J	$\frac{2}{2} \qquad \text{Date} \frac{5/1/1}{2}$ $\frac{2}{2} \qquad \text{Quote Number:-} \underline{Q} \qquad (5E7 OV = R)$	
Name: <i>MICE</i> Have you been giv Name: Address:	ven an itemised writ	_ Signature:	s 🗆 No I	$\frac{2}{2} \qquad \text{Date} \frac{5/1/1}{2}$ $\frac{2}{2} \qquad \text{Quote Number:-} \underline{Q} \qquad (SET OVZR)$	<i>D'</i>
Name: <i>NICL</i> Have you been giv Name: Address: Postcode:	PANS-W	_ Signature: / tten quote ? Yes Send ac Fax:	s No	$\frac{2}{2} \qquad \text{Date } \frac{5/1/2}{2}$ Quote Number:- Q $(SET OVZR)$ nail:	<i>D'</i>
Name: <i>MICL</i> Have you been giv Name: Address: Postcode:	PANSA ven an itemised writ Phone:	Signature:/ tten quote ? Yes Send ac Fax: Department	s No Scount to Er al clients or	$\frac{2}{2} \qquad Date \frac{5/1/2}{2}$ Quote Number:- Q $(SET OVZR)$ nail: nily	<u>D'</u>
Name: <i>MICLE</i> Have you been giv Name: Address: Postcode:	PANSA ven an itemised writ Phone: BS Code :-	Signature:/ tten quote ? Yes Send ac Fax: Department	Er al clients or	Date $5/1/2$ Quote Number:- Q SET OVZR nail: nail: Cost Centre :-	<u> </u>
Name: <i>MICL</i> Have you been giv Name: Address: Postcode: W	PANSA ven an itemised writ Phone: BS Code :- Send y	Signature: // tten quote ? Yes Send ac Fax: Department Your sample	s No p	Date $5/1/2$ Quote Number:- Q SET OVZR nail: nail: Cost Centre :-	
Name: <i>MICLE</i> Have you been giv Name: Address: Postcode: W	Phone: BS Code :- Send y	Signature: / tten quote ? Yes Send ad Fax: Departmenta your sample(s No p s No p ccount to Er al clients or (s) and th SW Departur SW Departur	Date $5/1/2$ Quote Number:- Q SET OVER nail: nail: Cost Centre :- is form to: nent of Primary Industries	
Name: MICE Have you been giv Name: Address: Postcode: W	Phone: BS Code :- Send y	Signature: // tten quote ? Yea Send ac Fax: Departmenta /our sample(Ni Di W	s No part to	Date $5/1/2$ Quote Number:- Q SET OVER nail: nail: 1/y Cost Centre :- is form to: nent of Primary Industries Analytical Services vericultural Institute	
Name: MICE Have you been giv Name: Address: Postcode: W	Phone: BS Code :- Send y	Signature: // tten quote ? Yea Send ac Fax: Departmenta /our sample(N; Di W 12	Er al clients of (s) and th SW Departr agnostic & ollongbar A 43 Bruxner	Date 5/1/2 Quote Number:- Q (SET OVER) nail: nail: nail: nail: nail: nail: nail: nail: nail: nail: nail: nail: nail: nail: form to: nent of Primary Industries Analytical Services Agricultural Institute Highway	
Name: MICE Have you been giv Name: Address: Postcode: W	Phone: BS Code :- Send y	Signature: // tten quote ? Yex Send ac Fax: Department Your sample(N: Di W 12 W	s No J s No J ccount to ccount to Er al clients or (s) and th SW Departr agnostic & ollongbar A 43 Bruxner OLLONG	Date 5/1// Quote Number:- Q (SET OVER) (SET	
Name: Mickey Have you been giv Name: Address: Postcode: W Test results and findings may in accordance with Department	Phone: BS Code :- Send y be provided to authorised intel policies. The information	Signature: tten quote ? Yes Send ac Send ac Fax: Departmenta Your sample(NS Di W 22 W Staff and used for statis ion assists disease and	s No s Count to ccount t	Date 5/1// Quote Number:- Q (SET OVTR) (SET	
Name: Mickey Have you been giv Name: Address: Postcode: W Test results and findings may in accordance with Departme agricultural products. The sou Sample Submission W.3	Phone: Phone: BS Code :- Send y be provided to authorised that policies. The information will ALium	Signature: / tten quote ? Yex Send ac Fax: Department your sample(NS Di W 12 W Pho staff and used for sea and remain confidential u	s No J ccount to ccount to cco	Date 5/1// Quote Number:- Q (SET OVA (SET OVA (SET OVA (SET OVA) (SET OVA)	Page 2 of
Name: Mickey Have you been giv Name: Address: Postcode: W Test results and findings may in accordance with Departme agricultural products. The sou Sample Submission W: 18:10:05	Phone: Phone: BS Code :- Send y be provided to authorised that policies. The information will ALtim	Signature: Send ac Send ac Send ac Fax: Departmente Your sample(NS Di W 12 W Staff and used or solution Staff and used or solution Staff and used or solution NS Staff and used or solution Staff and Staff an	s No J ccount to ccount to cco	Date 5/1// Quote Number:- Q (SET OVA) (SET OVA	Page 2 of



EAL Consulting Service Southern Cross University Military Road EAST LISMORE 2480 NSW T: (61-2) 6620 3678 W: www.scu.edu.au/eal



Attachment B: 2011 Report



EAL Consulting Service Southern Cross University Military Road EAST LISMORE 2480 NSW T: (61-2) 6620 3678 W: www.scu.edu.au/eal



WATER QUALITY ANALYSIS REPORT AT EIGHTEEN (18) SELECTED SAMPLING SITES WITHIN THE CLARENCE RIVER ESTUARY CLARENCE VALLEY COUNCIL LOCAL GOVERNMENT AREA

A 'Snapshot' Sampling and Analysis Effort of Benthic Sediment and Surface Water Samples Collected from four (4) Hydraulic Regions of the Clarence River Estuary

PREPARED BY: Matt Pocock, Nick Davison and Paola Rickard EAL Consulting Service in conjunction with the Environmental Analysis Laboratory, Southern Cross University A.B.N. 41 995 651 524

For:Professional Fishermen's Association (Clarence River)Report No.:EAL110017.001 (2998)Date:7th February 2011

Disclaimer

The Environmental Analysis Laboratory (EAL) as part of Southern Cross University has conducted work concerning the environmental status of the site, which is the subject of this report, and has prepared this report on the basis of that assessment.

The work was conducted, and the report has been prepared, in response to specific instructions from the client or a representative of the client to whom this report is addressed, within the time and budgetary requirements of the client, and in reliance on certain data and information made available to EAL. The analysis, evaluations, opinions and conclusions presented in this report are based on that information, and they could change if the information is in fact inaccurate or incomplete.

While due care was taken during field survey and report preparation, EAL accepts no responsibility for any omissions that may have occurred due to the nature of the survey methodology. EAL has made no allowance to update this report and has not taken into account events occurring after the time its assessment was conducted.

Due consideration has been given to site conditions and to appropriate legislation and documentation available at the time of preparation of the report. As these elements are liable to change over time, the report should be considered current at the time of preparation only.

This report is intended for the sole use of the client and only for the purpose for which it was prepared. Any representation contained in the report is made only to the client unless otherwise noted in the report. Any third party who relies on this report or on any representation contained in it does so at their own risk.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

EXECU	TIVE SUMMARY	53
1. IN	ITRODUCTION	55
1.2	STUDY SCOPE	55
1.1	STUDY LIMITATION	58
2. S ⁻	TUDY AREA	59
21	SITE IDENTIFICATION AND LANDUSE	59
33	Specific Site Characterisation	59
3.4	Rainfall	60
2.2	LOCAL SOILS	61
2.3	Significant Aquatic Habitat Features	62
2.4	WATER QUALITY IMPACTS WITHIN THE CLARENCE RIVER	63
3. S/	AMPLING METHODOLOGY	64
3 1	GENERAL METHODOLOGY	64
3.1	Sampling Methodology	04
3.3	Adopted Water Quality and Sediment Trigger Values	65
4. C	URRENT RESULTS	66
4 1		
4.1	ANALYSIS AND MONITORING RESULTS.	66
4.	1.1 Surface Water Analysis Posults	00
4. 1	1.2 Surfuce Water Analysis Results	07 68
4. 1	1.5 Sealment Analyses	60
4.	Γ.Υ Ασία σαιγατε Απαιγόες	05
4.2	2.1 Suspended Solids & nH Monitoring Results	70
4.	2.2 Nutrients (N & P) & TSS Samplina Results	
4.	2.3 Dissolved Inorganic Nitrogen Sampling Results	73
4.	2.4 Total N & DIN Sampling Results	74
4.	2.5 Conductivity Results	75
4.	2.6 Dissolved Oxygen & Biochemical Oxygen Demand Results	76
4.	2.7 Sediment Sampling Results	76
4.	2.8 Dissolved Metals Results	77
5. D	ISCUSSION	81
6. C	ONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	84
	D	
6.1	RECOMMENDATIONS	84
6.	1.2 Amended Scope of Works	85
REFER	ENCES	87
APPEN	IDICES	88
Дррг	ENDIX A - LABORATORY RESULTS FOR WATER OLIALITY ANALYSIS	
Арря	NDIX B - LABORATORY RESULTS FOR ACID SULFATE SOILS ANALYSIS	91
Аррг	NDIX C - LABORATORY RESULTS FOR SEDIMENTS ANALYSIS	93
Арре	NDIX D - DEPTH PROFILING SITE LOG SHEETS	95

Executive Summary

The Environmental Analysis Laboratory (EAL) has conducted a water and sediment quality investigation within four (4) regions of the Clarence River Estuary with two discrete sampling efforts undertaken over a two (2) year period. The sampling and analysis effort is limited to one sampling event per annum at each of the eighteen (18) selected sites. Tidal variations and subsequent changes in water column depth are not accounted for in the sampling and monitoring effort.

The sampling effort is focused on the lower reaches of the Clarence River catchment, namely selected hydrological regions within the estuary, which are described based on fluvial geomorphology.

Monitoring and analysis effort at the eighteen sites consisted of physicochemical depth profiling (pH, EC, TDS, Turbidity, Salinity and DO), sediment and water sample collection for assessment of specific physicochemical and chemical analyses. Analysis and field monitoring results were compared with appropriate trigger levels sourced from:

- ANZECC 2000, Australian Water Quality Guidelines for Fresh and Marine Waters, National Water Quality Management Strategy;
- QWQG 2009, Queensland Water Quality Guidelines;
- Stone et al. (1998) Acid Sulfate Soil Manual ASSMAC, NSW Aust.; and
- SCBD 2006, Global Biodiversity Outlook 2.

Sampling of sediment and waters was undertaken on the $23 - 24^{th}$ December 2009 and $12 - 13^{th}$ December 2010 with the sampling and analysis effort executed providing a snapshot depiction of the individual conditions at each sampling location at the time of sampling.

Key points noted during the comparison between the previous data and analysis and monitoring results collected for this period:

- Rainfall totals for the year prior to sampling were lower in 2010 than those recorded for same period at each of the three (3) monitoring stations in 2009. Whilst, rainfalls for the month prior to sampling were higher in 2010 at all 3 stations than those recorded for the same period in 2009. Rainfall for the 48 hours prior to sampling was greater in 2009 at the Harwood station and similar at the other 2 stations for both sampling years;
- TSS trigger value (20mg/L) was exceeded in the 2010 sampling run only at Lake Wooloweyah;
- pH (2010) values were recorded to be below the normal values for estuaries at SP18 (Main Channel), SP8, SP12, SP11 & SP1 (Tributaries);
- EC was considerably lower at all sites during the 2010 sampling run;
- Total Nitrogen has exceeded the trigger value of 0.3 (mg/L N) at all sites in both sampling years. Total Phosphorous trigger value (0.025 mg/L P) was also exceeded in both sampling years at all Main Channel and Tributaries Sites, and Lake Wooloweyah (lagoons sites). At the Lagoons Sites, P was below trigger value in 2009 at SP9 & SP10 (Broadwater), but above trigger value in 2010.
- Nitrate & Ammonia values in 2010 generally exceeded the guidelines at most sites except for some of the sites at Lake Wooloweyah, which were below trigger levels.

- DO at levels of less than 5 mg/L (i.e. below trigger level) were recorded for SP12 & SP11 (South Arm), SP8 (North Arm) and SP18 (Main Channel) consistently in both sampling periods;
- BOD levels for SP3 & SP2 (Lake Wooloweyah) are indicative of lightly to moderately polluted waters. However, DO levels at the same sites (for both years) display concentrations well above 5 mg/L;
- Dissolved Aluminium (Al) and Iron (Fe) concentrations were considerably higher in 2010 than those recorded in 2009. In regard to Aluminium concentrations, only SP16 recoded lower concentrations than last year; and
- Sulfate levels (in water) are lower in 2010 than those recorded in 2009, whilst Al & Fe are generally higher in 2010 that the concentrations recorded in 2009.

A reduction in marine influence is evident based on the reduction in chloride and sulfate concentrations observed throughout the estuary and connected hydraulic regions during the recent monitoring phase. When compared to the previous year's data, the $CI:SO_4$ ratio displays more variation throughout the (estuarine) system suggesting (with a decrease in marine influence) an increase in the production of sulfate originating from upstream and low energy environments.

Given the variation of physical factors (such as rainfall received, tidal fluxes, flow conditions etc.) experienced during the two discrete sampling and analysis events, a degree of variation is expected. Nevertheless, the following issues have been identified:

- Concentrations of both TN (and NOx) and TP continue to exceed the adopted trigger values, suggesting significant sources of nutrient enter the estuary;
- Reduction in marine influence was observed at majority of sites as evidenced by the reduction in Cl and SO4 recorded, along with greater variation of Cl;SO4 ratios;
- Salinity levels are considerably lower at all sites in the 2010 sampling run despite a relatively lower annual rainfall when compared to last year's records. However, rainfalls for the month prior to the sampling were relatively higher in 2010 than the same period in 2009. Additionally, tidal variations and subsequent changes in water column depth were not accounted for in the sampling and monitoring effort. These factors might explain the difference in salinity levels observed between the two sampling years.
- A net increase in the acid generating potential of benthic sediments was identified between the discrete sampling and analysis periods;
- An increase of heavy metal concentrations (principally Fe and AI) within surface water samples was also identified during the recent sampling effort.

A number of limitations have been identified during the undertaking of these works and the preparations of this report. To provide information that will allow the satisfaction of these identified limitations, EAL recommends the augmentation and alteration of the current investigation efforts. Should the works be required to continue in the future, a systematic and localised approach is proposed, which can be achieved with a similar budget as that allocated for this year.

1. Introduction

1.2 Study Scope

The Environmental Analysis Laboratory (EAL) has been commissioned by the John Harrison of the Professional Fishermen's Association (PFA) to conduct a water quality-sampling program at selected sites within the Clarence River estuary (refer to Figs. 1 & 2).

The water quality sampling has been conducted over two (2) years. The first round of sampling was conducted in December 2009 and the analysis results and basic interpretation was provided on the 10th March 2010.

The second round of samplings was undertaken in December 2010 and the results of analyses are provided in this report.

EAL has undertaken a comprehensive assessment of physical and chemical attributes within the lower reaches of the Clarence River catchment. Sampling has been undertaken at selected hydrological regions within the estuary, with each region identified and selected based on the fluvial geomorphology of each. These are shown on Table 1.

Region	Location	Sampling Point Identification(s)	
		SP15	
Main Channel		SP14	
	Clarance River	SP13	
		SP17	
		SP18	
		SP5	
	Maclean Breadwater	SP9	
	Maclean Broadwater	SP10	
Lagoons		SP3	
	Lake Wooloweyah	SP2	
		SP4	
		SP7	
	North Arm	SP8	
		SP6	
	Couth Arm	SP12	
Tributaries	South Arm	SP11	
	Palmers Channel	SP1	
	Oyster Channel	SP16	

Table 1. Selected Hydrological Regions within the Clarence River Catchment & Sampling Points

Based on information provided and requests by PFA, a total of eighteen (18) sediment and near-surface (i.e. benthic) water samples were collected between the River mouth (SP5) and the Ulmarra ferry (SP15) (refer to Fig. 2).



Figure 1. Clarence River Catchment. Source: r2labswiki.com



Figure 2. Sampling sites locations (Source: Google maps – <u>http://maps.google.com.au/maps</u>)

1.1 Study Limitation

The water quality sampling is limited to one sampling event per annum at each selected site within the hydrological regions detailed in Table 1. Because of the lack of more frequent sampling per annum at each site, it is not possible to confirm trends that might be associated with seasonal fluctuations, such as significant rainfall events and or lack of rainfall.

The timeframe allocated for each annual sampling event also restricts access to some sites, with an average 100m radius applicable at each sampling location. Tidal variations and subsequent changes in water column depth are also not accounted for in the sampling and monitoring effort.

In contrast to the previous sampling effort (December 2009), no pesticide (Organochlorine, Organophosphorus or PCB) analyses were undertaken in this sampling year. Analysis of biological samples (prawn, mullet, whiting, and bream) was also not conducted this year. These specific analytes and sample media were discarded following results below the limits of reporting recorded last effort.

2. Study Area

2.1 Site Identification and Landuse

The Clarence River lies in the far north coast of New South Wales, with its headwaters in the McPherson Ranges in Queensland (ref to Fig. 1). The river is free flowing with no on stream dams or weirs to inhibit its natural flow (Lockwood 2010). The Clarence River, its estuary and coastal floodplain is the NSW north coast's largest river system with a total catchment of 22,660 square kilometres (Umwelt 2003; Lockwood 2010).

This water quality sampling is focused on the lower reaches of the Clarence River catchment, namely selected hydrological regions within the estuary, which are described based on fluvial geomorphology. Thus, for the purposes on this report, the study area comprises the identified sites within the Clarence River estuary shown on Fig. 2.

The Clarence estuary supports the largest commercial estuary fishery in NSW, production has been estimated to be on average more than twice that of the next most important estuary (Umwelt 2003). Still, the coastal floodplain has been cleared and drained to enhance agricultural productivity since pre-1950. Flood mitigation works have been carried out for over a century on the Clarence, particularly in the 1960s and 1970s. Over the years many extensive drainage systems and hundreds of floodgates and other structures have been constructed. Nowadays, the majority of the floodplain is occupied by sugar cane (particularly in the lower estuary) or cattle grazing (Umwelt 2003).

2.2 Specific Site Characterisation

Main Channel

Samples SP15, SP14, SP13, SP17, SP18 and SP5 were collected within the channel of the Clarence River and are considered to represent the main stream characteristics (at least geographically) of the River. However, it must be noted that SP18 is not actually within the main channel, but it is located at the convergence of a tributary (Sportsmans Creek) with the Clarence River.

Lagoons Sites

Samples SP3, SP2 & SP4 were collected from within Lake Wooloweyah, whilst, Samples SP 9 & SP10 were collected within the Maclean Broadwater. These are known collectively as the Lagoons Sites.

Tributaries Sites

Samples SP7, SP8 & SP5 were collected within the North Arm tributary to the Clarence River. Samples SP12 & SP11 were collected from the South Arm tributary. A single sample was collected from the Palmers Channel (SP1) and the Oyster Channel (SP16). These are known collectively as the Tributaries Sites.

2.3 Rainfall

Rainfall records have been sourced from the Bureau of Meteorology (BoM) website (http://www.bom.gov.au/index.shtml). Records accessed are from the Harwood Island (Harwood Sugar Mill), South Grafton and Copmanhurst (Stockyard Creek) stations. Fig. 3 provides summary of the rainfall records for each of these stations for the year 2009 and 2010.





Figure 3. Graphs of rainfall records for the 2009 & 2010 years. Source: http://www.bom.gov.au/index.shtml

2.4 Local Soils

As described in Morand (2001), the study area is characterised by alluvial plains, tidal plains, abandoned channels and swamps. Islands such as Chatsworth and Palmers have been created by channels migrating across the river delta. Towards the mouth of the Clarence (River), previously formed aeolian and marine sands have been mixed with alluvium. Sand islands such as Freeburn Island have formed as consequences of tidal processes.

Major soil types include Brown and Grey Kandosols overlaying marine clays throughout the (alluvial) plain, Sulfidic Hydrosols within backswamps and tidal areas, Yellow Kurosols and Black Dermosols on headlands, Podosols on sandsheets and marine sands on beaches and tidal deltas and plains.

As stated by Umwelt (2003), the coastal floodplain is underlain by approximately 53,000 ha of high-risk acid sulfate soils (ASS) and these soils are often found at shallow depths across large areas of agricultural land on the coastal floodplain. Fig. 4 shows the potential ASS extent within the study area (as defined by NRAtlas).



High probability of occurrence Low probability of occurrence

Acid sulfate soils risk, coastal NSW

No known occurrence

Figure 4. ASS probability of occurrence Source: Map created with NSW Natural Resource Atlas http://nratlas.nsw.gov.au/wmc/custom/widgets/printlink/popup/printmap.jsp?

2.5 Significant Aquatic Habitat Features

The estuary contains the second largest area of seagrass in NSW (19 km2), with very large areas in the Broadwater and Lake Wooloweyah providing quality aquatic habitat (Umwelt 2003). Seagrass extent across the estuary is shown in Fig. 5.

The estuary also supports extensive mangrove vegetation and smaller areas of saltmarsh, which provide significant habitat for waterbirds. According to Umwelt (2003), thirty (30) threatened bird species have been recorded in the Clarence, the majority of which (75%) are waders. A large area protected under international conservation agreements has been set aside as roosting and feeding habitat for migratory waders. This area is located around the shores of the lower estuary as shown in Fig. 5.



Figure 5. Significant aquatic habitat features found within the study area. Source: Umwelt (2003)

2.6 Water Quality Impacts within the Clarence River

A number of activities conducted within the Clarence River catchment impact upon water quality and subsequently the commercial and recreational qualities of the estuary (both on a broadscale and point source scale).

Below is a brief list and short description of the activities assumed to be impacting upon water quality within the Clarence River (sourced from http://www.dpi.nsw.gov.au/fisheries/habitat/threats/urban):

- 1. Stormwater and run off widespread land clearing and development have altered flow regimes;
- 2. Sedimentation increased run off and decreased (vegetation) buffering leads to increases in suspended particulate matter within receiving waters;
- Pesticide pollution run off from agricultural (and in limited cases residential and commercial lands) containing substances used for pest control has the potential to impact upon aquatic species either directly (via species mortality) or indirectly (habitat impacts);
- 4. Nutrient pollution levels of nutrients above the seasonal norm has the potential to impact upon algal and plant growth; and
- 5. Acid Sulfate Soil drainage and retention of low-lying lands affected by ASS.

The activities above do not encompass all potential impacting activities within the Clarence River but is considered to describe the major factors affecting the objectives of this study.

3. Sampling Methodology

3.1 General Methodology

SAMPLING AND ANALYSES OF SEDIMENTS AND WATERS COLLECTED FROM THE CLARENCE RIVER ESTUARY, LAGOONS AND TRIBUTARIES

In response to a request from the Professional Fishermen's Association (PFA), EAL has continued a comprehensive assessment of physical and chemical attributes within the Clarence River and at a selected number of tributaries as shown on Fig. 2 and described in Table 1.

Based on information provided by PFA, eighteen (18) sediment and near-surface water samples were collected between the River Mouth and the Ulmarra ferry.

Sediment and Water samples were analysed for the physicochemical parameters and specific analytes listed on Tables 2 & 3.

Sample Media	Analytes			
Sediment	Physico-chemical	Texture pH _{1:5} EC _{1:5}	Chloride Sulfate	
	Specific Contaminants	Silver Arsenic Lead Cadmium Chromium Copper	Manganese Nickel Selenium Zinc Mercury Iron	Aluminium Tin
	Acid Sulfate Soils	Oxidisable Sulfur Titratable Actual A Acid Neutralising (cidity Capability	

 Table 2. Physicochemical parameters and specific analytes undertaken for each sediment sample

 Sample Media
 Analytes

 Table 3. Physicochemical parameters and specific analytes undertaken for each water sample

 Sample Media
 Analytes

Sample Media	Analytes		
Water	Physico-chemical	pH Electrical Conductivity (EC) Total Dissolved Solids (TDS) Total Suspended Solids (TSS) Bicarbonate Chloride Sulfate	Water Hardness Biochemical Oxygen Demand (BOD) Total Phosphorus (TP) Orthophosphate Total Nitrogen Nitrate Nitrite Ammonia
	Specific Contaminants	Sodium Potassium Calcium Magnesium SAR Silver Aluminium Arsenic Cadmium Chromium Copper	Iron Manganese Nickel Lead Zinc Mercury Tin

In addition to the analysis effort described in Table 3, physicochemical profile data for each specific site was collected to provide a vertical representation of specific parameters present at the time of sampling encountered at each site.

3.2 Sampling Methodology

EAL staff conducted the sampling and monitoring over a two-day period (13th & 14th December 2010), attending all eighteen sites and establishing the vertical profile of each site shown in Fig. 2.

In situ water quality testing was undertaken from a 14ft vessel anchored over each site. Following profile logging for pH, EC, salinity, temperature, turbidity, Dissolved Oxygen (DO) and Total Dissolved Solids (TDS), water samples were collected in close proximity to the benthic surface. Samples were collected via pumping (12V submersible pump) and transferred immediately to the following containers:

- 1. 1L Plastic bottle (unpreserved);
- 2. 500mL Glass bottle (unpreserved);
- 3. Two 43mL glass vials (Sulfuric acid preservation).

Sediment samples were collected using a grab sampler and were immediately transferred into 250mL glass jars (unpreserved).

All samples were stored in an esky and immediately frozen upon return to the laboratory.

3.3 Adopted Water Quality and Sediment Trigger Values

Adopted trigger levels for aquatic ecosystems are listed where applicable with the laboratory results displayed on Appendices A to C.

Guideline values have been adopted based on the most recent applicable information with sources of trigger levels derived from the following publications:

- ANZECC 2000, Australian Water Quality Guidelines for Fresh and Marine Waters, National Water Quality Management Strategy;
- QWQG 2009, Queensland Water Quality Guidelines;
- Stone et al. (1998) Acid Sulfate Soil Manual ASSMAC, NSW Aust.; and
- SCBD 2006, Global Biodiversity Outlook 2.

4. Current Results

4.1 Analysis and Monitoring Results

Laboratory results for Water Quality. Sediments and Acid Sulfate Soils analysis results are provided in Appendices A, B and C respectively.

Depth profiling Site Log Sheets 1 - 18 are shown as Appendix D, with each site logged as per the description provided above in Section 3.1.

4.1.1 Surface Water Monitoring Results

Surface water monitoring shows substantial variation between the regions in terms of EC (refer Fig. 6) with pH (although within the upper and lower limits) also displaying a similar trend in variation. Minor variation in water temperature are also observed, however; when compared with DO (Dissolved Oxygen), significant drops in Dissolved Oxygen levels can be seen at sites SW18, SW8 and SW11 (refer Fig. 7).



Figure 6. pH and EC (monitoring data 2010)

Levels of Total dissolved Salts (TDS) and Turbidity observed during sampling were found to be elevated in the lagoon sites, principally within Lake Wooleweyah. Turbidity results for SP2, SP3, and SP4 were above the maximum limit of the reporting for the field instrumentation (i.e. values not recorded). Fig. 8 graphically demonstrates the results recorded for Turbidity and TDS during field measurements.



Figure 7. Temperature and Dissolved Oxygen (monitoring data 2010)



Figure 8. Turbidity and TDS (monitoring data 2010)

4.1.2 Surface Water Analysis Results

Laboratory recorded pH values displayed minor to moderate variation (in most cases) when compared with field measures (0 - 16%) with a typical increase observed. Six (6) of the eighteen sample sites displayed pH values below the adopted lower limit as defined by QWGG (2009).

Nutrient levels for both Total Nitrogen (TN) and Total Phosphorus (TP) were recorded as consistently exceeding the adopted trigger values in all sites. NO_x values (Nitrate, Nitrite and Ammonia) were also found to be elevated in most sites with the notable exception of Lake Wooleweyah). Refer Appendix A for laboratory results for nutrient analyses. With regard to concentrations of metals recorded in surface water samples,

the heavy metals Iron (Fe), Aluminium (Al), and Zinc (Zn) periodically occurred in concentrations exceeding the adopted trigger values (please note that Fe does not currently possess a trigger value).

4.1.3 Sediment Analyses

Metals within sediments did not emulate concentrations (of heavy metals) observed within the water column with no correlation between total metals detected in sediment against total metals within waters. Figs. 9 and 10 show the concentrations of metals Fe and Al comparatively between the sample media (i.e. sediment and waters).



Figure 9. Sediment and Water Fe concentrations 2010





Chloride Sulfate ratios were varied across the sampling area, with variation obviously dependent upon the separation between marine and freshwater inputs. The presence and concentration of Fe and Al (in sediment) is directly proportionate, as shown in Fig. 11.



Figure 11. Al and Fe concentrations with CI:SO₄ 2010

4.1.4 Acid Sulfate Analyses

Net Acid Generating Potential within sediments is seen to be positive and above the standard ASS action criteria (refer Fig. 11). Acid Neutralisation Capacity (ANC) was found to be present in SP3, SP2, SP4 and SP16 suggesting a limited acid buffering capacity is present in these specific sites.





4.2 Comparative Examination

The sampling and analysis effort executed has provided representative depiction of the individual conditions at each sampling location at the time of sampling. Therefore, the results obtained represent a snapshot of the sites for the specific tidal and seasonal conditions prevalent at that time. The comparisons drawn between both sampling periods have not been normalised to minimise and discount naturally occurring variables. The following provides a brief comparison of key parameters for each sampling location for the year 2010 and comparison with corresponding results from the 2009 sampling effort.

4.2.1 Suspended Solids & pH Monitoring Results

Figs. 13, 14 & 15 show the 2009 & 2010 results for Total Suspended Solids (TSS) and pH for each identified Hydrological Region. Generally, TSS trigger value (20mg/L) was exceeded in the 2010 sampling run at Lake Wooloweyah only. Whilst pH (2010) were recorded to be below the normal values for estuaries at SP18 (Main Channel), SP8, SP12, SP11 & SP1 (Tributaries).



Figure 13. Main Channel TSS & pH results. TSS results for 2010 are all below trigger value, whilst TSS trigger value was exceeded at SP5 in 2009. pH values were below normal values at SP18 in both sampling years.

Figure 14. Lagoons TSS & pH results. TSS results for Broadwater (SP9 & SP10) are below trigger value in both sampling years, whilst TSS trigger value for Lake Wooloweyah were exceeded at all 3 sampling sites (SP3, SP2 & SP4) in both sampling years. pH values were within normal values for all lagoons sites in both sampling years.





Figure 15. Tributaries TSS & pH results. 2010 TSS results for all sites were below trigger value, whilst 2009 TSS trigger value were exceeded at SP6 & SP1. 2010 pH values were below normal values at SP8, SP12, SP11 & SP1.

4.2.2 Nutrients (N & P) & TSS Sampling Results

Figs. 16, 17 & 18 show the 2009 & 2010 results for Total Nitrogen (N), Total Phosphorous (P) & Total Suspended Solids for each identified Hydrological Region. TSS values are discussed in Section 5.1.2; however, they are also shown in the following graphs to highlight the TSS relationship with nutrients. Notably, Total Nitrogen has exceeded the trigger value of 0.3 (mg/L N) at all sites in both sampling years. Total Phosphorous trigger value (0.025 mg/L P) was also exceeded in both sampling years at all Main Channel and Tributaries Sites, and Lake Wooloweyah (lagoons sites). At the Lagoons Sites, P was below trigger value in 2009 at SP9 & SP10 (Broadwater), but above trigger value in 2010.



Figure 16. Main Channel N, P & TSS results. N & P results at all sites are above respective trigger values in both sampling years



Figure 17. Tributaries N, P & TSS results. N & P results at all sites are at or above respective trigger values in both sampling years.



Figure 18. Lagoons N, P & TSS results. N & P results are at or above respective trigger values in both sampling years for most sites. Note the 2009 TSS spike at SP3 coinciding with a spike in N value
4.2.3 Dissolved Inorganic Nitrogen Sampling Results

Dissolved Inorganic Nitrogen (DIN) comprises nitrate-N (NO₃⁻), ammonia-N (NH₄⁺) and nitrite-N (NO₂⁻). Figs. 19, 20 & 21 show the 2009 & 2010 results for DIN for each identified Hydrological Regions. Nitrate & Ammonia values in 2010 generally exceeded the guidelines at most sites except for some of the sites at Lake Wooloweyah, which were below trigger levels.



Figure 19. Nitrate trigger level (0.1 Mg/L N) was generally exceeded in 2010 at most sites, except for Sites SP3 & SP2



Figure 20. Nitrite trigger level (0.1 Mg/L N) was never exceeded in 2010



Figure 21. Ammonia trigger level (0.1 Mg/L N) was generally exceeded in 2010 at most sites, except for Sites SP3, SP2 & SP4 (Lake Wooloweyah) and SP16 (Channel Site)

4.2.4 Total N & DIN Sampling Results

The relationship between Dissolved Inorganic Nitrogen (DIN) and Total Nitrogen results for each sampling year are shown on Figs. 22 & 23.







Figure 23. TN & DIN (Nitrate + Nitrite + Ammonia) results for 2010 for each sampling site

4.2.5 Conductivity Results

The 2009 & 2010 results for Electrical Conductivity (a measure of salinity) for each identified Hydrological Regions are shown on Fig. 24. Salinity levels are considerably lower at all sites in the 2010 sampling run despite a relatively lower rainfall when compared to last year's records (see Fig. 5 in Section 3.4).





4.2.6 Dissolved Oxygen & Biochemical Oxygen Demand Results

The 2009 & 2010 results for Dissolved Oxygen (DO) & Biochemical Oxygen Demand (BOD) for each identified Hydrological Regions are shown on Fig. 25. DO trigger level of less than 5 mg/L was recorded for SP12 & SP11 (South Arm), SP8 (North Arm) and SP18 (Main Channel) in both sampling years.

In regard to BOD, results in the order of 3-4 mg/L indicate lightly polluted waters; whilst results in the order of 5-7mg/L are indicative of moderately polluted waters. BOD levels for SP3 & SP2 (Lake Wooloweyah) are indicative of lightly to moderately polluted waters. However, DO levels at the same sites (for both years) display concentrations well above 5 mg/L, which is an indicator of good water quality.



Figure 25. Dissolved Oxygen (DO) & Biochemical Oxygen Demand (BOD) concentrations for each identified Hydrological Region

4.2.7 Sediment Sampling Results

The relationship between pH levels in water and concentrations of Inorganic Sulfur (% chromium reducible S) in sediment for each sampling year is shown on Fig. 26. Whilst Fig. 27 displays the concentrations of Inorganic Sulfur in sediment against the Chloride/Sulfate ratio in water.









Chloride/Sulfate Ratio is compared with Inorganic Sulfur in sediment for each sampling year

4.2.8 Dissolved Metals Results

Dissolved Aluminium (Al) and Iron (Fe) concentrations were considerably higher in 2010 than those recorded in 2009 as shown on Figs. 28 & 29. In regard to Aluminium concentrations, only SP16 recoded lower concentrations than last year. Notably at pH <6.5, Aluminium concentrations of 0.055 mg/L or greater is of concern. At SP1 & SP18, where ph is less than 6.5, the Aluminium concentrations for 2010 are considerably greater than 0.055 mg/L (refer to Fig. 28).



Figure 28. Al concentrations for 2010 are considerably greater at the majority of sites than those recorded in 2009. PH levels are also shown, at pH <6.5, Al concentrations of 0.055 mg/L or greater is of concern



Figure 29. Fe concentrations for 2010 are considerably greater at the majority of sites than those recorded in 2009

Figs. 30 & 31 show the Al and Fe concentrations for each sampling year when compared with Sulfate (in water). Notably, Sulfate levels are lower in 2010 than those recorded in 2009, whilst Al & Fe are generally higher in 2010 that the concentrations recorded in 2009.





EAL Consulting



Figs. 32 & 33 show the Al and Fe concentrations for each sampling year when compared with the Chloride/Sulfate Ratio.



5. Discussion

Key points noted during the comparison between the previous data and analysis and monitoring results collected for this period:

- 2010 rainfall totals for the year prior to sampling were lower than those recorded for same period at each of the three (3) monitoring stations in 2009, as shown on Fig. 3 - Section 3.4. Whilst, rainfalls for the month prior to sampling were higher in 2010 at all 3 stations than those recorded for the same period in 2009. Rainfall for the 48 hours prior to sampling was greater in 2009 at the Harwood station and similar at the other 2 stations for both sampling years;
- TSS trigger value (20mg/L) was exceeded in the 2010 sampling run only at Lake Wooloweyah;
 - Note that trawling was underway during the time of sampling at this location.
- pH (2010) values were recorded to be below the normal values for estuaries at SP18 (Main Channel), SP8, SP12, SP11 & SP1 (Tributaries);
- EC was considerably lower at all sites during the 2010 sampling run;
 - Denotes a reduction in marine influence upon the estuary (in contrast to values recorded during the 2009/2010 effort).
- Total Nitrogen has exceeded the trigger value of 0.3 (mg/L N) at all sites in both sampling years. Total Phosphorous trigger value (0.025 mg/L P) was also exceeded in both sampling years at all Main Channel and Tributaries Sites, and Lake Wooloweyah (lagoons sites). At the Lagoons Sites, P was below trigger value in 2009 at SP9 & SP10 (Broadwater), but above trigger value in 2010.
- Nitrate & Ammonia values in 2010 generally exceeded the guidelines at most sites except for some of the sites at Lake Wooloweyah, which were below trigger levels.
- DO at levels of less than 5 mg/L (i.e. below trigger level) were recorded for SP12 & SP11 (South Arm), SP8 (North Arm) and SP18 (Main Channel) consistently in both sampling periods;
- BOD levels for SP3 & SP2 (Lake Wooloweyah) are indicative of lightly to moderately polluted waters. However, DO levels at the same sites (for both years) display concentrations well above 5 mg/L;
 - DO level is typically governed by water temperature. Note the significant decrease in sites SP 18, SP8, SP6 and SP12 which is largely unconnected to water temperature variations.
- Dissolved Aluminium (Al) and Iron (Fe) concentrations were considerably higher in 2010 than those recorded in 2009. In regard to Aluminium concentrations, only SP16 recoded lower concentrations than last year; and
- Sulfate levels (in water) are lower in 2010 than those recorded in 2009, whilst Al & Fe are generally higher in 2010 that the concentrations recorded in 2009.

Nutrient values encountered for this investigation showed total nutrients were in excess of the adopted guideline values. The deficit difference between TN and DIN values demonstrates that a significant quantity of Nitrogen within the estuary may be in organic forms (refer to Figs 22 & 23). A significant increase in dissolved phase metal AI and Fe was also encountered when compared with the previous year's data.

The sediment analysis does not identify any particular contaminant or specific physicochemical parameter that exceeds the ANZECC/ARMANZ (2000) sediment trigger values. Typically, all samples displayed characteristics of ASS with high Reduced Inorganic Sulfur levels common. Net Acid Generating potential was moderated by endemic Acid Neutralising Capacity being present in some low energy environments; however, the effective neutralising potential of the assumed neutralising agent (CaCO₃ in shell) is considered to be largely unavailable. A net increase in Acid Generating potential was observed between the two individual monitoring periods as illustrated in Fig. 34.



Figure 34. Net Acid Generating Potential (2009 and 2010)

A reduction in marine influence is evident based on the reduction in chloride and sulfate concentrations observed throughout the estuary and connected hydraulic regions during the recent monitoring phase. When compared to the previous year's data, the CI:SO₄ ratio displays more variation throughout the (estuarine) system suggesting (with a decrease in marine influence) an increase in the production of sulfate originating from upstream and low energy environments (see Figs. 35, 36 and 37).



Figure 35. Chloride concentration (2009 and 2010)







Figure 37. CI:SO4 ratio (2009 and 2010)

6. Conclusions and Recommendations

Given the variation of physical factors (such as rainfall received, flow conditions, tidal fluxes etc.) experienced during the two discrete sampling and analysis events, a degree of variation is expected. Nevertheless, with the data obtained and via comparisons with the 2009 results the following issues have been identified:

- Concentrations of both TN (and NOx) and TP continue to exceed the adopted trigger values, suggesting significant sources of nutrient enter the estuary;
- Reduction in marine influence was observed at majority of sites as evidenced by the reduction in Cl and SO4 recorded, along with greater variation of Cl;SO4 ratios;
- Salinity levels are considerably lower at all sites in the 2010 sampling run despite a relatively lower annual rainfall when compared to last year's records. However, rainfalls for the month prior to the sampling were relatively higher in 2010 than the same period in 2009. Additionally, tidal variations and subsequent changes in water column depth were not accounted for in the sampling and monitoring effort. These factors might explain the difference in salinity levels observed between the two sampling years.
- A net increase in the acid generating potential of benthic sediments was identified between the discrete sampling and analysis periods;
- An increase of heavy metal concentrations (principally Fe and AI) within surface water samples was also identified during the recent sampling effort.

6.1 Recommendations

As outlined in the previous report prepared to accompany the results of the 2009 sampling effort, one of the outcomes of this study is to provide recommendations aimed at refining the sampling effort so that a more focused approach is implemented for future works. For instance, as recommended in last year's report, persistent contaminants of concern (such as pesticides and polychlorinated biphenyls) and biological samples were excluded from the 2010 sampling program.

With regard to 2010 results (and their interpretation), EAL has identified specific limitation inherent to the sampling and analysis programme and identified a recommended refinement of works should the continuation of the project be approved. These aspects are further discussed in the following sections.

The following limitations have been identified during the undertaking of these works and the preparations of this report:

- 1. The refinement of the ultimate project objective is required in order to tailor the sampling and analysis effort to the specific needs of PFA. At present, EAL has undertaken two investigation efforts with the following defined objectives:
 - a. 2009 Identify potential contributing factors that may be affecting prawn stocks and fecundity/growth rates within the investigation area; and
 - b. 2010 Undertake a similar refined sampling and analysis effort to assess water quality within the Clarence River estuary (on a broadscale setting) and to establish possible trends.

- 2. The number of points and the sheer size of the investigation area preclude the establishment of regional trends with in situ variations (i.e. providing an ineffective representative characterisation of the site(s)). The lack of suitable periodic data set(s), along with the absence of physical input data such as rainfall intensity and location, minimises the potential for trends to become apparent. Seasonal factors that affect the conditions within a specific hydraulic region at any given time may 'skew' data to either provide no significant correlation at all, or indicate false positive scenarios; and
- 3. The analytical suite currently covers the parameters and analytes described in Section 3.1. EAL recommends further refinement of the analyte suite for each of the sampling media to minimise costs and refine the focus of the investigation.

6.1.2 Amended Scope of Works

Should the works be required to continue in the future, a systematic and localised approach is recommended, which can be achieved with a similar budget as that allocated for this year. The following sets forth an alternate effort in an attempt to satisfy the limitations of the investigation as established over the past two years:

- Based on the initial concept of establishing potential causes and/or contributing factors that resulted in the reduction in catch sizes and yields (of prawns) in the Clarence in the 2009/2010 season, and the continuation of the investigation effort, EAL recommend the following objective be used for future and further investigations:
 - a. Identify and compare periodical conditions within selected working areas of the Clarence River Estuary in order to establish trends affecting the recruitment, growth and stability of aquatic resources and species (i.e. prawn crops); and
 - b. Establish appropriate monitoring methods and trigger levels to apply to Water and/or Sediment parameters likely to result in impacts upon prawn stocks.
- Reduce the current number of sampling and monitoring locations by targeting more points within the appropriate working areas. A total of ten (10) sample sites within the main channel between Ulmarra and Maclean as well as continuing the effort within Lake Wooloweyah;
- Increase sampling frequency to at least two efforts per annum;
- Identify available meteorological and catchment monitoring stations, suitably located to define local inputs that have the potential to significantly alter chemical conditions within the estuary;
- Based on the results of the previous monitoring and analytical efforts, the suite of parameters may be further refined and amended, as follows:

Sample Media	Analytical Suite											
	Field Monitored		Lab Analyses									
Sediment	рH	EC	pH EC TN TP NO _x	Ortho-Phosphate Chloride Sulfate Aluminium Iron CRS Sulfur TAA ANC Retained Acidity								
Water	pH EC Salinity DO	Temperature Turbidity TDS	pH EC TN TP NO _x	Ortho-Phosphate Chloride Sulfate Total /Dissolved Aluminium Total /Dissolved Iron								

Based on the current costing for the 2010 sampling, monitoring, analysis and reporting effort, the following table sets out the costing as per the alternate effort as stated above. The following costing is calculated on one (1) sampling effort that may be utilised at a desired frequency over the preferred sampling period. EAL recommend the adoption of the below (or an amended version) for a twice per year sampling effort that is expected to deliver a more representative depiction of water and sediment quality within the specific areas of investigation.

ACTION	ACTIVITY	RATE	EST. UNIT	EST. COST
Sampling and Monitoring	Sampling and monitoring (including travel, site time and sample handling)	\$960 + GST per day	1	960
	Vehicle Costs - Boat - Vehicle	 \$200 + GST per day \$1.20 per km 	1 120	200 144
	Pack 01 (CRS, TAA, ANC Ret. Acid.,	\$80 + GST per sample	10	800
Sediment Analysis	Pack 15 (pH, EC, Cl, SO₄)	\$60 + GST per sample	10	600
	Pack 19 (TN, TP, NO _x , OPh	\$50 + GST per sample	10	500
	Sing 08 (Fe, Al)	\$40 + GST per sample	10	400
	Bulk Sample Discount	- 15%	1	-\$345
	Pack 16 (pH, EC, TDS, Fe, Al, Cl, SO ₄)	\$60 + GST per sample	10	600
Water Analysis	Sing 06 (BOD)	\$35 + GST per sample	10	\$350
	TSS, NO _x TN. TP, OPh	\$80 + GST per sample	10	\$800
	Bulk Sample Discount	- 15%	1	-\$262.50
Total Est. Cost pe	er sampling effort			\$4,746.50 + GST
Water Quality And	alysis Report			\$1,800 + GST
Total Sampling (b	based on two efforts)	and Reporting		\$11,293 + GST

References

ANZECC (Australian and New Zealand Environment and Conservation Council and Agriculture and Resource Management Council of Australia and New Zealand) 2000, *Australian Water Quality Guidelines for Fresh and Marine Waters, National Water Quality Management Strategy*, Australian and New Zealand Environment and Conservation Council, Canberra.

Lockwood R 2010, *The Clarence River System*, accessed 21 January 2011, http://www.sportsfish.com.au/fishing/top-fishing-spots/clarence-river.html

Morand D T 2001, *Soil Landscapes of the Woodburn 1:100 000 Sheet*, Department of Land and Water Conservation, Sydney, NSW.

QWQG (Department of Environment and Resource Management) 2009, *Queensland Water Quality Guidelines, Version 3*. ISBN 978-0-9806986-0-2.

SCBD (Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity), 2006, *Global Biodiversity Outlook 2*, Montreal, <u>http://www.cbd.int/doc/gbo/gbo2/cbd-gbo2-en.pdf</u>

Stone, Y. Ahern CR, and Blunden B (1998). Acid Sulfate Soil Manual, Acid Sulfate Soil Management Advisory Committee (ASSMAC) Wollongbar, NSW.

Umwelt (Australia) Pty Limited 2003, *Pathways to a Living Estuary Clarence Estuary Management Plan*, Report No. 1485/R04/V3, Prepared for Clarence River County Council, <u>http://www.clarence.nsw.gov.au/cmst/cvc009/view_doc.asp?id=3887&cat=176</u>

Appendices

APPENDICES	88
APPENDIX A - LABORATORY RESULTS FOR WATER QUALITY ANALYSIS	89
APPENDIX B - LABORATORY RESULTS FOR ACID SULFATE SOILS ANALYSIS	91
APPENDIX C - LABORATORY RESULTS FOR SEDIMENTS ANALYSIS	93
APPENDIX D - DEPTH PROFILING SITE LOG SHEETS	95

Appendix A - Laboratory Results for Water Quality Analysis

EAL Com	authing a Camula	- Clamanaa Di	li i a in Fati i a in i	Matan Auril	the Amelian Demonstration
	sulfinn Servir	e –i iarence ki	ver estilarv	water Ullal	TV ANAIVSIS RENORT
LAL CON	Sulling Scivic			Water Oddi	

LESSENS OF MAILK	ANALYSIS (Pag	e 1 of 1)																			
8 samples supplied by Environmental Anal-	ysis Laboratory on the 15th Dec	ember, 2010 - Lab. Job No. B2	069																		
Inalysis requested by Nick Davison - Your	Project: EAL2998 - PFA Clare	nce Water testing 2010	Detection																		
PARAMETER	METHODS REFERENCE	Adopted Trigger Values	Limits	Sample 1 SW 1	Sample 2 SW 2	Sample 3 SW 3	Sample 4 SW 4	Sample 5 SW 5	Sample 6 SW 6	Sample 7 SW 7	Sample 8 SW 8	Sample 9 SW 9	Sample 10 SW 10	Sample 11 SW 11	Sample 12 SW 12	Sample 13 SW 13	Sample 14 SW 14	Sample 15 SW 15	Sample 16 SW 16	Sample 17 SW 17	Sample 1 SW 18
	Jab Na.			B2059/1	B2059/2	B2059/3	B2059.4	B2059/5	B2059/6	B2059/7	B2059/8	B2059/9	B2059/10	B2059/11	B2059/12	B2059/13	B2059/14	B2059/15	B2059/16	B2059/17	B2059/18
		44-																			
н	APHA 4500-H*-B	7 - 8.4	na	6.42	7.45	7.73	7.39	6.96	7.18	7.22	6.68	7.16	7.26	5.94	6.33	7.06	7.08	7.18	7.84	7.11	6.47
CONDUCTIVITY (EC) (dS/m)	APHA 2510-B	0.125-2.200	<0.01	247	14.39	14.52	14.78	1.47	120	0.13	617	0.18	120	160	170	0.10	0.13	0.10	10.92	0.11	152
OTAL DISSOLVED SALTS (INGL)	calculation using EC x 680		~	247	3,705	3,074	10,000	330	150	03	017	125	130	100	170	03	00	00	10,020	15	152
OTAL SUSPENDED SOLIDS (mg/L)	GFC equiv. filter - APHA 2540-D	< 20 ^{tta}	<1	9	104	64	42	7	11	12	10	10	9	18	6	7	7	7	21	5	8
IOCHEMICAL OXYGEN DEMAND: (mol. O)	APHA 5210-B	Lightly polluted waters = 3-4 mg/L: Moderately polluted = 5-	<05	13	33	3.0	1 9	0.8	0.9	0.8	12	0.9	10	19	11	0.5	0.8	0.5	15	0.5	11
		7mg/L ^{11c}	-0.0	1.0	0.0	0.0	1.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	1.2	0.0	1.0	1.0		0.0	0.0	0.0	1.0	0.0	
ISSOLVED OXYGEN (mg/L)	field measured	> 5 1%	na	6.3	6.9	7.9	8.8	6.8	5.7	6.6	2.9	7.5	7.2	0.1	2.5	7.3	6.8	7.2	7.5	7.5	2.2
	10114 4500 D.U.	0.005 13	-0.01	0.07	0.06	0.06	0.05	0.06	0.08	0.00	0.07	0.09	0.09	0.05	0.09	0.06	0.08	0.06	0.04	0.06	0.06
PTHOPHOSPHORUS (mg/L P)	APHA 4500 P-H	< 0.025	<0.00	0.07	0.005	0.002	0.002	0.00	0.08	0.09	0.07	0.08	0.08	0.004	0.08	0.06	0.08	0.00	0.04	0.00	0.00
internet net (inger)	7411440001140	0.000	40.000	0.020	0.000	0.002	0.002	0.000	0.010	0.010	0.000	0.010	0.012	0.004	0.000	0.010	0.010	0.010	0.000	0.011	0.004
OTAL NITROGEN (mg/L N)	APHA 4500 N-C	< 0.3 ^{tta}	<0.01	0.20	0.81	0.70	0.57	0.60	0.63	0.67	0.82	0.70	0.73	0.79	0.79	0.57	0.62	0.60	0.53	0.56	0.78
DTAL KJELDAHL NITROGEN (mg/L N)	CALCULATION: TN - NOx	-	<0.01	0.13	0.80	0.69	0.55	0.54	0.56	0.60	0.76	0.62	0.65	0.76	0.77	0.49	0.55	0.53	0.50	0.49	0.76
/Ox	HIDE	0.04.13	<0.005	0.073	0.004	0.009	0.023	0.062	0.067	0.069	0.056	0.081	0.079	0.027	0.018	0.080	0.066	0.070	0.031	0.071	0.016
ITRATE (mg/L N)	APHA 4500 NO ₃ -F	< 0.01 ***	<0.005	0.067	0.003	0.008	0.020	0.061	0.065	0.066	0.052	0.077	0.075	0.021	0.015	0.078	0.002	0.068	0.029	0.069	0.014
MMONIA (mol N)	APHA 4500 NU2+C	< 0.01 11a	<0.001	0.030	0.007	0.008	0.005	0.011	0.002	0.003	0.058	0.004	0.004	0.005	0.066	0.002	0.013	0.002	0.002	0.002	0.002
				1		2.500	2.500														2.0-78
ISSOLVED METALS																					
ILVER (mg/L)	** APHA 3120 ICPMS ^{*nete 182}	< 0.0014 ^{11d}	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001
LUMINIUM (mg/L)	** APHA 3120 ICPMS/OES ************************************	pH <6.5 = 0.055 111	<0.005	2.192	< 0.005	<0.005	<0.005	0.807	2.326	2.962	1.309	1.508	2.362	0.484	0.216	2.198	1.435	1.912	<0.005	1.954	2.719
RSENIC (mg/L)	** APHA 3120 ICPMS ^{*nete 182}	As (III) = 0.024 As (V) = 0.013 110	<0.001	0.002	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	0.001	0.001	0.002	0.001	0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	0.028	0.001	< 0.00
ADMIUM (mg/L)	** APHA 3120 ICPMS'nete 182	< 0.0002 ^{11d}	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	< 0.00
HROMIUM (mg/L)	** APHA 3120 ICPMS ^{*nete 182}	< 0.027 ^{11d}	<0.001	0.002	0.003	0.003	0.003	0.002	0.002	0.002	0.002	0.001	0.002	<0.001	<0.001	0.002	0.002	0.001	0.003	0.002	0.002
OPPER (mg/L)	** APHA 3120 ICPMS ^{*nete 182}	< 0.013 ^{11d}	<0.001	0.002	0.002	0.002	0.002	0.001	0.004	0.003	0.003	0.002	0.004	0.001	0.002	0.004	0.002	0.002	0.002	0.003	0.002
ON (moll)	** APHA 3120 ICPMS/DES **********		<0.005	1.358	<0.005	<0.005	<0.005	0.531	1.251	1.520	1.833	0.981	1.365	1.180	1.716	1.212	0.990	1 121	<0.005	1.146	2 700
	** ADUA 3430 ICDMC/0EC ^{*866182}	- 4.0 114	<0.001	0.010	0.002	<0.000	<0.000	0.011	0.009	0.000	0.020	0.007	0.010	0.069	0.100	0.000	0.006	0.000	0.002	0.007	0.042
CKEI (mol)	** ADUA 3120 ICPMS/0E3	< 0.011 114	<0.001	0.001	0.002	0.004	0.004	<0.001	0.000	0.003	0.003	0.001	0.001	0.000	<0.001	0.003	0.000	0.003	0.002	0.001	0.042
AD (mgl)	** ADUA 3120 ICPMS	< 0.0044 114	<0.001	<0.001	<0.004	<0.004	<0.004	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.003	<0.001	<0.001
ENIIM (mol)	** ADMA 3120 ICPMS	< 0.0044	<0.001	0.002	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	0.003	<0.001	<0.001	0.004	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001
(Creat)	11 ADUA 3430 ICOMC ¹⁰⁰⁰¹⁶²		<0.001	0.016	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.002	0.170	0.020	0.010	0.001	0.156	0.045	0.014	0.167	0.027	0.000	0.001	0.116	0.047
BCUBY (mol.)	** APHA 3120 ICPMS ^{*note 182}	< 0.0001 ¹¹⁴	<0.005	<0.005	<0.001	<0.005	<0.005	<0.005	<0.005	<0.005	<0.005	<0.001	<0.005	<0.005	<0.005	<0.005	<0.005	<0.005	<0.001	<0.005	<0.005
HLORIDE (mg/L)	** APHA 4500-CI-		<1	74.5	4,189.8	4,296.6	4,395.9	395.0	33.5	19.9	199.1	30.8	31.4	44.6	47.5	12.5	17.1	12.9	5,267.4	16.0	42.9
alfur .	raw data	-	< 0.3	3.6	201.3	231.8	229.1	25.4	3.1	0.6	9.3	1.0	2.1	3.4	2.5	1.3	0.6	0.5	265.6	1.8	0.9
JLFATE (mg/L SO42-)	** APHA 3120 ICPOES*note 2	-	<1	10.7	603.9	695.5	687.4	76.2	9.3	1.8	28.0	3.1	6.3	10.1	7.5	4.0	1.7	1.5	796.9	5.4	2.6
HLORIDE/ SULFATE RATIO	Calculation			6.9	6.9	6.2	6.4	5.2	3.6	11.1	7.1	10.1	5.0	4.4	6.3	3.1	10.1	8.8	6.6	2.9	16.4
OTAL METALS																					
DIAL METALS	11 ADUA 34 30 IC DLIC 1000182	-0.0014 151	<0.001	~0.001	<0.001	<0.001	×0.001	~0.001	<0.001	<0.001	~0.001	~0.001	<0.001	-0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	~0.001	<0.001	<0.001
LVER (ingre)	** ADMA 2120 ICPMS/DES ^{*nete182}	nH -6.5 - 0.055 ¹¹⁰	<0.001	4 851	3 392	1 175	0.521	3,833	5.023	4 633	3.473	5.005	5.084	0.408	0.594	3,897	3 532	3 565	0.042	3.687	5 965
RSENIC (mail)	** APHA 3120 ICPMS **********	As (III) = 0.024 As (V) = 0.013 ¹¹⁰	<0.001	0.002	<0.001	<0.001	0.003	0.003	0.002	0.002	0.002	0.002	0.002	<0.001	<0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	<0.001	0.001	<0.001
ADMUM (mgl)	** APHA 3120 ICPMS ^{*note 182}	× 0.0002 ¹⁵⁴	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001
HBOMIUM (mg/l)	** APHA 3120 ICPMS **************	× 0.027 ¹¹⁰	<0.001	0.003	0.005	0.003	0.003	0.003	0.003	0.003	0.002	0.003	0.003	<0.001	0.001	0.002	0.002	0.002	0.003	0.002	0.003
OPPER (mg/L)	** APHA 3120 ICPMS ^{*nete 182}	< 0.013 ¹¹⁰	<0.001	0.004	0.003	0.002	0.002	0.003	0.003	0.004	0.003	0.003	0.003	0.002	0.002	0.003	0.003	0.003	0.003	0.003	0.002
ON (mg/L)	** APHA 3120 ICPMS/OES ^{*nete 182}		<0.005	2.653	2.131	0.904	0.363	1.696	2.509	2.541	3.654	2.556	2.697	5.001	2.847	2.030	2.134	1.948	0.151	1.962	5.997
ANGANESE (mg/L)	** APHA 3120 ICPMS/OES ************************************	< 1.9 114	<0.001	0.049	0.128	0.057	0.034	0.027	0.061	0.079	0.073	0.083	0.093	0.080	0.160	0.080	0.108	0.099	0.018	0.053	0.226
CKEL (mg/L)	** APHA 3120 ICPMS ^{*note 182}	< 0.011 11d	<0.001	0.002	0.005	0.004	0.004	0.001	0.002	0.002	0.001	0.002	0.002	0.001	0.001	0.002	0.001	0.002	0.004	0.001	0.001
AD (mg/L)	** APHA 3120 ICPMS ^{*nete 182}	< 0.0044 ^{11d}	<0.001	0.001	0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	< 0.001
ELENIUM (mg/L)	** APHA 3120 ICPMS ^{*nete 182}		<0.001	0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	0.006	<0.001	<0.001	0.003	<0.001	<0.001	0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001
NC (mg/L)	** APHA 3120 ICPMS ^{*nete 182}	< 0.015 11d	<0.001	0.038	0.010	0.001	0.001	0.005	0.020	0.025	0.025	0.014	0.018	0.021	0.021	0.020	0.017	0.015	<0.001	0.012	0.019
ERCURY (mg/L)	** APHA 3120 ICPMS'note 182	< 0.0001 154	<0.005	<0.005	<0.005	<0.005	<0.005	<0.005	<0.005	<0.005	<0.005	<0.005	<0.005	<0.005	<0.005	<0.005	<0.005	<0.005	<0.005	<0.005	< 0.005
H ORIDE (mol)	** APHA 4500-CI-		<1	70.7	4 154 5	4 195 8	4 236 2	395.4	33.4	18.9	188.6	30.0	30.1	43.2	46.8	11.4	17.4	11.0	4 694 6	15.3	42.2
ulfur	raw data		< 0.3	3.5	208.0	223.9	230.3	25.8	2.1	1.0	8.6	0.9	1.0	4.0	2.8	0.2	0.4	0.5	239.1	0.7	1.1
ULFATE (mg/L SO4 ²)	** APHA 3120 ICPOES*note 2		<1	10.5	624.1	671.8	691.0	77.4	6.2	3.1	25.9	2.7	2.9	12.0	8.5	0.7	1.3	1.4	717.4	2.1	3.4
LORIDE/ SULFATE RATIO	Calculation			6.7	6.7	6.2	6.1	5.1	5.4	6.0	7.3	10.9	10.3	3.6	5.5	16.4	13.7	8.1	6.5	7.1	12.3
tes:																					^
Total Available metals - samples acidifie	d with nitric acid and then filtere	d through 0.45µm cellulose ace	tate																		- <u>(</u>)
Dissolved metals - samples filtered through	ugh 0.45µm cellulose acetate an	d then acidified with nitric acid	prior to analys	ved																	NATA
sumples merel the	tively Coupled Plasma - Mass S	pectrometry) or ICP-OES (Indu	tively Couple	d Plasma - O	ptical Emissic	on Spectrome	try)														
Metals/ salts analysed by ICP-MS (Induct		rams per litre)= 1000 ppb (part	per billion)																	· · · · ·	Lab.Arroc.Sci.145 11 December 3, band arouther with 10 Per
Metals/ salts analysed by ICP-MS (Induct 1 mg/L (milligram per litre) = 1 ppm (part p	per million) = 1000 µg/L (micros																				condition sequences condited for acception
Metals/ salts analysed by ICP-MS (Induc: 1 mg/L (milligram per litre) = 1 ppm (part p For conductivity - 1 dS/m = 1 mS/cm = 10	per million) = 1000 µg/L (micros 000 µS/cm																				val003192
Metals/ salts analysed by ICP-MS (Induct 1 mg/L (milligram per litre) = 1 ppm (part For conductivity - 1 dS/m = 1 mS/cm = 10 In Pesticide Analysis Screening, no other	per million) = 1000 µg/L (micros 000 µS/cm r pesticides occurred above repo	rtable levels in the attached list																			
Metals/ salts analysed by ICP-MS (Induc: 1 mg/L (milligram per litre) = 1 ppm (part) For conductivity - 1 dS/m = 1 mS/cm = 11 In Pesticide Analysis Screening, no other For Bacteria - clu= colony forming unit	per million) = 1000 µg/L (microg 000 µS/cm r pesticides occurred above repo	table levels in the attached list																			
Metals/ salts analysed by ICP-MS (Induc 1 mg/L (milligram per litre) = 1 ppm (part) For conductivity - 1 dS/m = 1 mS/cm = 1 In Pesticide Analysis Screening, no other For Bacteria - clue colony forming unit Analysis performed according to APHA, 2	per million) = 1000 µg/L (microg 000 µS/cm : pesticides occurred above repo 2005, "Standard Methods for the	rtable levels in the attached list Examination of Water & Waste	water", 21st E	Edition, excep	t where state	d otherwise.															
Metals/ saits analysed by ICP-MS (Indue 1 mg/L (milligram per litre) = 1 ppm (part] For conductivity - 1 dS/m = 1 mS/cm = 11 In Pesticide Analysis Screening, no other For Bacteria - clw- colony forming unit Analysis performed according to APHA, 2 Analysis conducted between sample arriv	per million) = 1000 µg/L (microg 000 µS/cm r pesticides occurred above repo 2005, "Standard Methods for the al date and Report provision dat	rtable levels in the attached list Examination of Water & Waste e	water", 21st E	Edition, excep	t where state	d otherwise.															
Metaia/ saits analysed by ICP-MS (Induc 1 mgL (milligram per litre) = 1 ppm (part) For conductivity - 1 dS/m = 1 mS/m = 1 i 1 mstbick Analysis Screening, no other For Bacteria - clue colony forming unit Analysis performed according to APHA, 2 Analysis conducted between sample arm/ ** denotes these test procedues are as y	per million) = 1000 µg/L (microg 000 µS/cm r pesticides occurred above repo 2005, "Standard Methods for the al date and Report provision dat ret not NATA accredited but qua	rtable levels in the attached list Examination of Water & Waste e lity control data is available	water", 21st E	Edition, excep	t where state	d otherwise.															
Metals' saits analysed by ICP-MS (induc 1 mg1, (milligam per litre) - 1 pom (am) Fer conductifity - 1 dS/m - 1 mS/cm - 1 in Pesticide Analysis Screening, no other For Bacteria - cluur colony forming unit Analysis conducted between sample amix " denotes these test procedures are as . Denotes not requested	per million) = 1000 µg/L (microp 000 µS/cm r pesticides occurred above repo 2005, 'Standard Methods for the al date and Report provision dat ret not NATA accredited but qua	rtable levels in the attached list Examination of Water & Waste e lifty control data is available	water", 21st E	Edition, excep	t where state	d otherwise.															
Metali saits analysed by ICP-VB (hock 1 mg1, (miligram per lite) - 1 ppm (part) For conductivity - 1 dS/m = 1 mS/cm = 1 h Festicide Analysis Exercising, no dhe For Bacteria - clue colony forming unit Analysis performed according to APHA. 2 Analysis conducted between sample aim's " denotes these test procedures are as y - Denotes on the queuested " table 3.1.1 QWQG 2009	per million) = 1000 µg/L (micro 0000 µS/cm pesticides occurred above repo 2005, "Standard Methods for the al date and Report provision dat ret not NATA accredited but qua	rtable levels in the attached list Examination of Water & Waste e lity control data is available	water", 21st E	Edition, excep	t where state	d otherwise.															
Metalar saits analyse (JCP-MS finds) the mathematical setting of the MS finds) the mathematical setting of the mathematical for conductive 1- dism = in Sider = 11 in Particular Analysis Screening in Analysis performed according to APHA. A Analysis conducted between sample anti- directed the set procedures are as y L. Denotes not requested * Table 3.11 OWOG 2009 ⁺ * Dail 3.25 AVEC/CLARMONZ 2000	per million) = 1000 µg/L (microp 000 µS/cm pesticides occurred above repo 2005, "Standard Methods for the all date and Report provision dat ret not NATA accredited but qua	rtable levels in the attached list Examination of Water & Waste e itly control data is available	water", 21st E	Edition, excep	t where state	d otherwise.															
Metativ saits analysed by CP-NS (host 1 mgt, (miligam per late) = 1 pon (just, F 2 conductive) - 1 Gim = 1 mS(cm = 1 h Percilick Analysis Screening, no other F Backetia - clare Courty Emmigrant Analysis performed according to APHx, 2 Analysis conducted thereins named area "- denotes these test procedures are as "- Donotes not requested "- Table 3.1.1 CWOG 2009 "> 3.3 Sa AVXECCARM/CNZ 2000 "> 5.3 SA AVXECCARM/CNZ 2000	per million) = 1000 µg/L (microp 0000 µS/cm pesticides occurred above repo 2005, "Standard Methods for the al date and Report provision dat eter not NATA accredited but qua	rtable levels in the attached list Examination of Water & Waste e Iiiy control data is available	water", 21st E	Edition, excep	ot where state	d otherwise.															
Metalar saft annyled by (ZP-MS (hock 1 mgl, (miligram per itre) - 1 ppm (part. 1 mgl, (miligram per itre) - 1 ppm (part. 1 mgl, (miligram per itre) - 1 ppm (part. 1 mPetsicke Analysis Screening, no other 1 mPetsicke Control (miligram) Analysis performed according to APHA 1 Analysis conducted between samed serier - Menotes not requested 1 metores there terro procedures are ary 1 metores there terro procedures are ary 1 metores not requested 1 main 5.1 metore 1.1 metore 2000 - SCRD 2	per million) = 1000 µg/L (micro ou µs/cm pesticides occurred above repo 2005, "Standard Methods for the al data and Report provision dat et not NATA accredited but qua	rtable levels in the attached list Examination of Water & Waste e Ifly control data is available	water", 21st E	Edition, excep	ot where state	d otherwise.															

EAL110117.001 (2998)

Appendix B - Laboratory Results for Acid Sulfate Soils Analysis

RESU	ILTS	OF A		SULF	ATE	SOIL AN	IAL	/SIS						
8 samples	supplied	by Enviror	mental A	nalysis L	aboratory	on the 15th Dec	ember,	2010 - Lab. Job N	lo. B2058					
nalysis re	quested I	by Nick Da	vison - Yo	our Projec	t: EAL299	8 - PFA Clarend	e Sedir	nent Testing 2010						
									required	if pH _{KCI} > 6.5				
	EAL		MOIS	TURE	TITRAT	ABLE ACTUAL	REDUC	ED INORGANIC	ACID NEU	JTRALISING	NET ACIDITY	LIME CALCULATION		
Sample Site	lab	TEXTURE	CON	TENT	ACIE	DITY (TAA)		SULFUR	CAPACI	TY (ANC _{BT})	Chromium Suite	Chromium Suite		
			(%	(a		(To pH 6.5)	pH 6.5) (% chromium reducible				mole H⁺/tonne	kg CaCO₃/tonne DW		
	code	(note 6)	moistur e of total wet	moistur e/gof oven				5)				(includes 1.5 safety Factor when liming rate		
			weight)	dry soil)	рН _{ксі}	(mole H ⁺ /tonne)	(%Scr)	(mole H*/tonne)	(% CaCO ₃)	(mole H⁺/tonne)	(based on %Scrs)	is ⁺ve)		
lethod No.											note 5	note 4 and 6		
P1	B2058/1	Medium	35 /	0.55	6 37	2	033	206		0	208	15.6		
SP2	B2058/2	Fine	57.9	1 38	7 59	0	0.33	112	 1 51	302	-89	-4.4		
SP3	B2058/3	Fine	65.6	1.00	7.45	0	0.10	87	1.65	330	-132	-6.6		
SP4	B2058/4	Medium	27.6	0.38	7 30	0	0.14	50	0.30	78	-132	-0.0		
SP5	B2058/5	Coarse	22.7	0.30	6.90	0	0.00	6	0.55	0	6	0.1		
SP6	B2058/6	Coarse	21.1	0.23	6.25	2	~0.01	0		0	2	0.0		
3F0 3D7	B2058/7	Eine	21.5	0.27	6.33	2	<0.01 0.43	268	••	0	272	20.4		
200	B2058/8	Coorco	19.5	0.03	5.09	3	0.43	200	••	0	47	20.4	-	
200	B2050/0	Eino	10.0	0.23	5.90	3	0.07	44		0	47	3.5		
5F9	D2030/9	Fine	60.9	1.00	0.15	9	0.08	424	••	0	433	32.5		
	B2058/10	Fine	40.4	0.80	0.45	54	0.78	480	••	0	487	30.0		
5P11	B2058/11	Fine	65.9	1.93	5.15	54	0.35	218		0	272	20.4		
5P12	B2058/12	Fine	56.8	1.31	5.03	39	0.61	380	••	0	419	31.5		
5P13	B2058/13	Coarse	20.8	0.26	6.04	5	0.88	549	••	0	554	41.6		
SP14	B2058/14	Fine	61.6	1.60	5.85	28	0.22	137		0	165	12.4		
SP15	B2058/15	Coarse	24.5	0.33	6.05	4	<0.01	0		0	4	0.3		
SP16	82058/16	Fine	32.8	0.49	6.82	0	0.26	162	0.71	142	68	5.1		
3P17	B2058/17	Fine	60.3	1.52	6.10	16	0.19	119	••	0	134	10.1		
3P18	B2 <i>058/18</i>	Fine	57.3	1.34	6.02	14	0.74	462	••	0	475	35.6		
- All analy	sis is Dry	Weight (DW) - sample	es dried a	nd ground	immediately upo	n arrival	unless supplied c	Iried and grou	ind)				
- Samples	analysed	by SPOCA	S method	23 (ie Sus	spension F	eroxide Oxidatio	n Combi	ned Acidity & sulfat	te) and 'Chron	nium Reducible	Sulfur' technique (S	Scr - Method 22B)		
- Methods	from Ahe	rn, CR, McE	Inea AE , S	Sullivan L	A (2004). A	cid Sulfate Soils	Labora	tory Methods Gui	delines.QLD	DNRME.				
- Bulk Der	sity is req	uired for lim	otential S	alculation	is per soll \	olume. Lab. Bulk	Density	is no longer appli	cable - field bi	ulk density rings	can be used and d	ried/ weighed in the labor	ACOMMENTATION	
- The neut	ralising re	auirement.	lime calcu	ulation. inc	cludes a 1.	5 safetv margin f	or acid n	eutralisation (an in	creased safe	tv factor may be	required in some c	ases)	as Document is issued in	
- For Textu	ire: coars	e = sands to	loamysa	ands; med	dium = san	dy loams to light	clays; fin	e = medium to hea	avy clays and	silty clays		ac A	creditation requirements.	
deno	tes not red	quested or r	equired. 'C)' is used	for ANC an	d Snag calcs if T	AA pH <€	6.5 or >4.5					with ISO/IES 17025	
0 - SCREEN	NING, CRS	5, TAA and A	NC are N	ATA accre	edited but o	ther SPOCAS se	gments :	are currently not NA	ATA accredited	t				
1 - Proiect	s that dis	turb >1000	tonnes of	soil. the	wiui 0 i0r ≥0.03% Sc	lassification out	deline w	ould apply (refer t	o acid sulfate	management o	uidelines).			
2 - Results	refer to s	amples as	received a	at the labo	ratory. This	report is not to b	e reprod	uced except in full.			,,			
Classifica	tion of p	otential ad	id sulfat	e materi	al if: coai	se Scr≥0.03%S	or 19m	ole H⁺/t; mediur	n Scr≥0.06%	S or 37mole H	l⁺/t; fine Scr≥0.19	%S or 62mole H⁺/t) - as p	er QUASSIT (Guidelines

Appendix C - Laboratory Results for Sediments Analysis

RESULTS OF SOIL ANALYSIS

18 samples supplied by Environmental Analysis Laboratory on the 15th December, 2010 - Lab. Job No. B2058 Analysis requested by Nick Davison - Your Project: EAL2998 - PFA Clarence Sediment Testing 2010

		Sample 1	Sample 2	Sample 3	Sample 4	Sample 5	Sample 6	Sample 7	Sample 8	Sample 9	Sample 10	Sample 11	Sample 12	Sample 13	Sample 14	Sample 15	Sample 16	Sample 17	Sample 18	Detectio	Compos ite Accepta	Individu al Accepta	Backgro	
ANALYTE	METHOD																			n Limits	ble Limit	ble Limit	und	
	REFERENCE	SP1	SP2	SP3	SP4	SP5	SP6	SP7	SP8	SP9	SP10	SP11	SP12	SP13	SP14	SP15	SP16	SP17	SP18	(routine)	Column 1	Column 1	Range	
	Job No.	B2058/1	B2058/2	B2058/3	B2058/4	B2058/5	B2058/6	B2058/7	B2058/8	B2058/9	B2058/10	B2058/11	B2058/12	B2058/13	B2058/14	B2058/15	B2058/16	B2058/17	B2058/18		See note 1	See note 1	See note 2	
SILVER (mg/Kg DW)	а	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	na	na	na	
ARSENIC (mg/Kg DW)	a	5	12	14	4	3	1	9	<1	8	7	9	8	6	8	2	6	5	8	<1	<25	<100	0.2-30	
LEAD (mg/Kg DW)	a	7	15	17	3	4	2	14	2	14	12	17	15	7	15	3	7	15	16	<1	<75	<300	<2-200	
CADMIUM (mg/Kg DW)	а	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<5	<20	0.04-2.0	
CHROMIUM (mg/Kg DW)	а	14	26	29	6	10	3	23	2	23	21	24	23	9	23	7	12	22	24	<1	<25	<100	0.5-110	
COPPER (mg/Kg DW)	а	9	14	16	2	3	2	18	2	17	14	19	22	3	19	3	6	17	20	<1	<250	<1000	1-190	
MANGANESE (mg/Kg DW)	а	154	587	860	75	93	85	247	23	545	303	1009	319	219	980	102	113	560	223	<1	<375	<1500	4 - 12,600	
NICKEL (mg/Kg DW)	а	9	17	19	3	5	2	17	1	16	14	19	19	3	17	4	7	16	20	<1	<150	<600	2-400	
SELENIUM (mg/Kg DW)	а	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	na	na	na	
ZINC (mg/Kg DW)	а	49	86	76	15	26	11	75	6	72	67	100	93	14	73	19	34	69	105	<1	<1750	<7000	2-180	
MERCURY (mg/Kg DW)	а	0.06	0.06	0.06	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	0.05	<0.05	0.09	0.06	0.06	0.07	<0.05	0.06	<0.05	<0.05	0.05	0.07	<0.05	<3.75	<15	0.001-0.1	
IRON (% DW)	а	1.62	3.29	3.64	0.70	1.11	0.40	2.67	0.27	3.25	2.84	3.81	2.76	1.70	3.04	0.72	1.37	2.78	4.24	<0.01	na	na	na	
ALUMINIUM (% DW)	а	0.95	2.07	2.32	0.39	0.40	0.23	1.56	0.19	1.85	1.54	2.20	1.81	0.32	1.83	0.38	0.88	1.86	2.10	<0.01	na	na	na	
CHLORIDE (mg/Kg)	а	705	9,274	12,605	1,716	438	22	113	36	282	335	131	69	5	336	6	3,450	258	219					
sulfur	raw data	3218.80	2306.30	1931.30	1443.80	151.90	118.80	4800.00	625.00	6437.50	6343.80	3556.30	5281.30	11375.00	2731.30	105.60	2787.50	1462.50	6812.50	<0.3		1		
SULFATE (mg/L SO42-)	а	9,656	6,919	5,794	4,331	456	356	14,400	1,875	19,313	19,031	10,669	15,844	34,125	8,194	317	8,363	4,388	20,438	<1		1		
Chloride/Sulfate Ratio		0.07	1.34	2.18	0.40	0.96	0.06	0.01	0.02	0.01	0.02	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.04	0.02	0.41	0.06	0.01			1		
TIN (mg/Kg DW)	а	4	7	7	2	3	1	7	1	5	5	8	7	2	6	2	3	5	6	<1				
METHODS REFERENCE																								
a. ¹⁻³ Nitric/HCl digest - APHA 3120 ICPI	MS																							
b. ^{1:3} Nitric/HCI digest - APHA 3120 ICPC	OES																							
c. Analysis sub-contracted - results attack	hed																							
NOTES																								
1. Column 1 ' Residential with gardens and acces	sible soil including	childrens dayo	are centres, p	reschools, prir	nary schools, t	own houses o	r villas' (NSW E	PA 1998)																
2. Environmental Soil Quality Guidelines, Page 40	0, ANZECC, 1992.																							

Appendix D - Depth Profiling Site Log Sheets